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Co-Chairpersons’ Report
Much has been achieved in native title in the
2005/06 reporting period. In total, more than
20 native title agreements were reached across
both the Yamatji and Pilbara regions in the past
year. Interestingly, many of the deals are
different - showing that each group has its own
needs and priorities. And while they have all
been significant, there have been special
moments, including:
• Wajarri Yamatji reaching an exploration
agreement with Midwest Corporation over
the exploration of the Weld Ranges.The
agreement required sensitivity and
understanding on behalf of the company
because the Weld Ranges is an area of
exceptional cultural significance.
The deal is not only one of the country’s
most comprehensive land access
agreements, it is also an example of best
practice in native title exploration
agreements.
• Njamal signing three deals in one day,
confirming their status as one of the leading
native title negotiators in the country.The
provisions of the deals were also
remarkable and included the allocation of
funding for the collection of preservation
evidence to advance the recording of
cultural and historic knowledge held by
Njamal Elders and a request
by traditional owners for funds
to be donated to the Royal
Flying Doctor Service of
Australia and the Cancer
Council Australia.

In total, more
than 20 native
title agreements
were reached
across both the
Yamatji and
Pilbara regions
in the past year

The mining boom of Western
Australia was originally a
Pilbara story only, but it has
now moved south, so that the
Murchison/Gascoyne has also
become the focus of high level
industry activity.Yamatji people
have joined their Pilbara
neighbours in trying to juggle the often difficult
responsibilities of protecting country and
culture with economic development interests.
The boom provides great opportunities for an
improvement in the economic position of
Yamatji and Pilbara communities and is often
welcomed by traditional owners. However,
claimants continue to have an expectation for
companies to be respectful of the role and
responsibility of traditional owners as well as
for the land being developed.
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Pilbara Chairperson Neil Finlay (left) and Yamatji
Chairperson Wayne Warner. Image by Justin Cvitan.

While native title continues to be the main
focus of this organisation, there has also been a
growth in non-native title activity in both regions.
The establishment of a Caring for Country team
this year in the Yamatji region is very exciting
and we look forward to seeing the results from
this new initiative. In the Pilbara, the
appointment of a Community Development
Officer has also been important and will add to
the good work being done by the Business
Development Officer in the region.
YMBBMAC’s role is becoming more important
for Aboriginal people in the Yamatji and Pilbara
regions. Now that ATSIC is gone, there is no
Indigenous structure that can speak on behalf
of Aboriginal people in the broader political
environment.YMBBMAC is recognising the
need for it to take on more responsibilities in
this area. Our communities continue to need
representation and the land council has shown
that it can achieve a lot on behalf of Aboriginal
people. Both the two regional committees and
the Governing Committee see the importance
of taking a leading role in ensuring that matters
affecting our country, culture and our people’s
concerns are kept in the spotlight of
government and the public.
Additionally, the National Native Title Council
is being formed by native title representative
bodies from around the country.The aim of
the council is to provide a collective voice for
Aboriginal people.YMBBMAC has given inprinciple support to the organisation and if our
involvement is formalised we, as chairs of the
Governing Committee, will take leadership
roles in the initiative.
Once again, we would like to congratulate
management and staff at the land council for all
their effort and work through the year.We look
forward to continuing to work with them and to
achieving another year of exciting development
for the traditional owners we represent.
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Executive Director’s Report
The 2005/06 reporting period has been busy
and productive on all fronts. At a corporate
level, we have seen the implementation of the
certified agreement.This agreement should
improve staff recruitment and retention, which,
as an ongoing problem for the organisation, has
been a priority for us to resolve.
The year has also seen an increase in funding
from the Office of Indigenous Policy
Co-ordination which has been of great
assistance. As part of this, the land council has
received an increase in capital funding which
has come at a time of considerable need.This
increase has provided us with a range of
necessary tools, including new computers,
vehicles as well as some office renovations.
At an operational level we have also seen
significant developments.Among the operational
highlights for YMBBMAC this year were the
binding initial agreements reached between Rio
Tinto Iron Ore and six Pilbara native title claims
that we represent. Not only are the agreements
impressive in themselves, but they come after
two years of negotiations which have been, at
times, complex.YMBBMAC staff have shown
their commitment throughout these negotiations
to achieving the best outcomes for traditional
owners and the results are a credit to them. I
welcome the company’s changed approach in
order to reach this outcome and look forward
to working with all parties in the development of
further positive achievements and to defining,
with traditional owners, the role this organisation
will play in future stages of the project.
YMBBMAC has focused on promoting its work
to external audiences during this reporting
period, maintaining an active presence in the
broader parliamentary and commercial
environment. In doing so, it has given evidence
to two Commonwealth inquiries and has
provided a response to the State Government
review of the Department of Indigenous Affairs.
The organisation has also provided a submission
to the review of the Native Title Act and we will
be watching closely the outcome of the review’s
proposed changes and the impact that it will
have on the rights and interests of claimants.
The organisation has also tried to improve its
relationships with proponents by hosting its first
stakeholders’ day seminar, designed to develop
dialogue and understanding of YMBBMAC’s
activities for proponents, government agencies
and members of parliament.The event proved
highly successful and is expected to be held
again in the first half of 2007.

YMBBMAC Executive Director Simon Hawkins.
Image by Robin Stevens.

As a further part of this promotional drive
we launched the new YMBBMAC website
in December, which is continuing to undergo
changes as it strives to meet the needs of all
audiences. Additionally, on a more face-toface level I have represented the
organisation at three international mining
conferences held in Australia
during the year. In October, I
gave a speech at the
Excellence in Exploration
and Mining conference held
in Sydney, while I also gave
presentations to each of the
Association of Mining and
Exploration (AMEC)
conferences held in July
2005 and June this year.
Our presence at the AMEC
conferences also included a
YMBBMAC booth at both events, attended
by land council staff, which proved to be an
effective promotional tool.

YMBBMAC
has focused on
promoting its
work to external
audiences during
this reporting
period

In the wake of ATSIC it has been the
ambition of YMBBMAC members to take
more responsibility for the representation
of Aboriginal people on issues affecting them
in the Yamatji and Pilbara regions as well as
on a broader level. Wherever possible and
appropriate,YMBBMAC will provide
assistance to traditional owners in increasing
their level of participation and involvement
in matters affecting them, their community
and their country.
The 2006/07 reporting period is already
looking to be another positive year for
YMBBMAC. I look forward to working with
both Governing Committee chairs, members
of each of our committees and staff to
achieve even more on behalf of the
traditional owners we represent.
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Legal Developments The claims and litigation environment
CONNECTION REPORTS
AND NEGOTIATIONS
FOR CONSENT
DETERMINATIONS
AND ALTERNATIVE
SETTLEMENTS
YMBBMAC continues
to recommend seeking
determination of native title
applications by consent.This
approach remains the most
efficient and satisfactory way of
obtaining recognition for
traditional owners as it avoids
expensive and stressful
Agreement making. Image by Linda Back.
adversarial hearings.To achieve
this,YMBBMAC has been
consent determination in that region.The
submitting connection reports to comply with
negotiations have included agreeing the form
the State of Western Australia’s Guidelines for
of an Indigenous land use agreement with
the Provision of Information in Support of
the pastoralists concerned.
Applications for a Determination of Native Title,
Work continues in the Geraldton region
published in October 2004.The State will not
towards an alternative settlement for the
generally enter into consent determinations for
southern group of claims.
native title without connection reports being
submitted in this way.
YMBBMAC has also been involved in
negotiations in relation to a consent
In addition, where it is in the best interests
determination for the Eastern Guruma claim.
of the traditional owners,YMBBMAC also
YMBBMAC does not act for this claim but
may recommend that they enter into
has been working to resolve overlaps on
negotiations for alternative settlement
claims for which we do act.
agreements with respondent
parties.This is an alternative to
GENERAL CLAIM WORK
obtaining a determination of
native title.The State is
There are currently no matters in the
currently working on a policy
YMBBMAC regions that are subject to
for such alternative
Federal Court time-tabling orders for a trial.
settlements.
The Yugunga-Nya and Badimia claims from
the Geraldton region had been listed for
In the reporting period,
trial but YMBBMAC was involved in a
a connection report was
successful land summit in the Goldfields
submitted on behalf of the
through which numerous overlaps between
Nyangumarta People in the
claims were able to be resolved and the
Pilbara region. Supplementary
matters taken out of trial.
work has been carried out
on connection material for the
During the reporting period, the Kulyakartu
Badimia People, the Karriyarra
claim was lodged by YMBBMAC.
People and the Thudgari People following
connection reports submitted in previous
In the meantime, a substantial amount of work
reporting periods.
continues in relation to mediations between
overlapping claims and amendments to
There have been intensive negotiations with
remove such overlaps, research work on
a view to arriving at a consent determination
proper boundaries and meetings in relation to
for the Ngarla People in the Pilbara region. It
is hoped that this will be finalised later in
authorisation and replacement of applicants.
2006. If successful, this will be the first

YMBBMAC
continues to
recommend
seeking
determination
of native title
applications by
consent.
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APPEAL IN NGARLUMA
YINDJIBARNDI CLAIM

WHAT IS A DETERMINATION?

YMBBMAC lodged an appeal on behalf of
the Ngarluma and Yindjibarndi people in
May 2005 on a few discrete legal issues
concerning:
• The findings that five pastoral leases
extinguished native title.
• The geographical limits on the exercise
of rights within the determined area.
• The findings on the application of s47A
to the Mount Welcome properties.
• The finding that temporary reserves
excluded the operation of s47B. (s47A and
s47B are sections allowing past
extinguishment to be ignored in
circumstances where those sections apply.)
The State lodged a cross-appeal on the way
the groups were described in the
determination and the finding that the
Ngarluma People had native title over the
Karratha area.The Commonwealth also
lodged a cross appeal on the decision to
allow more than one prescribed body
corporate to be appointed for an overlap
area between the two groups and a similar
appeal to YMBBMAC’s on the pastoral
leases extinguishing native title.The WongGoo-Tt-Oo claimants also lodged a separate
appeal on the finding that they did not hold
native title as a separate group.
Through extensive negotiations,YMBBMAC
was able to get the other parties to agree to
the appeal succeeding in relation to the
extinguishing effect of pastoral leases and on
the geographical limits on the rights.This still
had to be subject to the Court upholding to
the appeal on those issues but it meant that
there was no argument put against the appeal
on those two points.The two sets of appeals
were argued over three days in May 2006.
The decision on the appeal was reserved by
the Full Court.

When a court makes a decision about
whether native title does or does not exist
in a particular area of land or waters, it is
referred to as a determination.
Where a determination is said to exist, the
rights and interests of the native title group
will also be set down.
The process of determining native title tends
to take a considerable amount of time and
is often a complicated process.

APPEAL ON AN EXPEDITED
PROCEDURE MATTER
YMBBMAC appealed the decision of the
National Native Title Tribunal on the
question of whether a miscellaneous licence
for a mining camp, which creates rights that
would amount to major physical
disturbance, would qualify for the expedited
procedure. Unfortunately the appeal was
not successful but the Full Court did
indicate that any suggestion that a mining
camp was not a major disturbance would
be unreasonable.

Ngarlawangga traditional owners Kelman Smirke and Anthony Hyland with Rio
Tinto representative Andrew Cutten on a heritage survey in Ngarlawangga country.
Picture by Robin Stevens.
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Legal Developments (Cont.)
SUPREME COURT ACTIONS TO SET
ASIDE AN AGREEMENT FOR
UNCONSCIONABILITY AND
DEFAMATION WRITS
In August last year,YMBBMAC launched an
urgent action in the Supreme Court of
Western Australia to set aside an agreement
with Fortescue Metals Group signed by the
Nyiyaparli Applicants.The causes of action
claimed in the proceedings included
unconscionability and misleading and
deceptive conduct. YMBBMAC engaged
Chris Zelestis QC as senior counsel on this
action. The action was withdrawn after the
issues between the parties were resolved.
At about the same time, FMG issued
defamation actions against Simon Hawkins,
YMBBMAC’s Executive Director, and the
organisation.
The defamation writs were in relation to
various statements made in press releases
which were issued to protect the interests
of the Nyiyaparli People. As at the end of
the reporting date, the defamation
proceedings were still on foot.

WHAT IS NATIVE TITLE?
Native title is the legal recognition in
Australia that a system of law and land
ownership was held by societies of
Aboriginal people before colonisation and
may exist today.The law recognises the
existence of native title when it is
demonstrated that a traditional connection
to land and waters has been maintained and
where it has not been removed by
government acts.
Native title may exist in vacant crown land;
some national parks; some types of pastoral
lease; and some land held for Aboriginal
communities. It can sometimes also exist for
inland and coastal waters which are not
privately owned: public rights of access to
these areas will not be affected.
Native title is extinguished in any area
where freehold exists; native title cannot
take away anyone else’s valid rights; no
homes or mining leases will be lost as a
result of native title; and where there is a
conflict between native title rights and the
rights of another person, the rights of the
other person always prevail.

WARDEN’S COURT AND
INDEPENDENT PERSON HEARINGS
In relation to certain mining tenement
applications,YMBBMAC has continued to
receive instructions to lodge objections
before the warden.There have been a few
such hearings in the reporting period before
wardens in Karratha.
For information about future act
negotiations please see pages 74 and 77.

Amangu Working Group with presentation from Mount Gibson
representatives. Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.
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Yamatji wildflowers.
Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.

The Regulatory Environment
A series of legislative initiatives in the
2005/06 reporting period has changed, or
promise to change, the environment in which
YMBBMAC operates. At a
Commonwealth level, the
review of the Native Title
Act, initiated in September
2005, has caused concern
for many native title
representative bodies and
other organisations
sympathetic to the
promotion of rights for
Aboriginal people in
Australia.

A series of
legislative
initiatives in the
2005/06
reporting period
have changed, or
promise to
change, the
environment in
which YMBBMAC
operates.

While YMBBMAC accepts
there is room for
streamlining the NTA, it
holds grave concerns that
the enormous lobbying
power of industry, together
with the current
conservative political
climate, threatens to produce a reversal in
the protection of the rights and interests of
Aboriginal people, which are already
demonstrably inadequate, given the clear
inequalities in which Aboriginal people
continue to live.
In December 2005,YMBBMAC provided a
submission to the review of the NTA and
largely opposed changes to the Act.The
organisation also provided a response to the
State Government’s submission to the same
review.There were no further developments
of this review during the remainder of the
reporting period. However, the
Commonwealth Attorney-General’s
Department released its recommendations
for reforms to the Native Title Act in August
2006.YMBBMAC will be responding to these
recommendations.
The Aboriginal Councils and Association Act
Following a major review of the Aboriginal
Councils and Associations Act in early 2005 it
was determined that the Act requires
updating.The Corporations (Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander) Bill 2005 was introduced
into Federal Parliament in June with the aim
that it will replace the ACAA once it is
passed. If parliament agrees to the Bill, it will
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become law on 1 July 2007. Some parts of
the new law may come into force at a later
date.
In effect the new Act will mirror the
Corporations Act 2001in many ways, including
reporting governance and regulations and will
provide Indigenous people with a modern
incorporation statute.
For NTRBs, the Bill seeks to ensure that
it remains consistent with native title
legislation and:
• Requires NTRBs to have in their name the
words ‘registered native title body
corporate’ or RNTBC.
• RNTBCs will be grouped into small,
medium and large with different reporting
requirements. Definitions of size are yet to
be determined but will likely be based on a
combination of turnover, capital and
number of members.
• Senior officers of the organisation are given
duties and responsibilities similar to public
officers under the Corporations Act and must
exercise duty of care, honesty and
disclosure and avoid conflicts of interest.
• Members rights will be protected by the
registrar who can intercede on their behalf.
However the Bill ensures that the
members’ rights cannot be used to prevent
the RNTBC from undertaking its
obligations under the NTA.
• The registrar can undertake reviews and
examine records of the organisation.
There are some significant differences between
the Bill and the ACAA.These include:
• The registrar can exempt organisations
from holding AGMs if there is no reason to
have one.
• Allowing AGMs to be held with video or
telephone conferencing and in language.
• Officers of the organisation will have similar
responsibilities to those under the
Corporations Act.
• Whistleblower protection is similar
to the CA.
• A civil penalties regime will be introduced
similar to the CA which has a large number
of penalties.
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Impact of the Mining Act
Amendment Act

PARLIAMENTARY REPORT ON THE
OPERATION OF NTRBs

The Western Australian Mining Act
Amendment Act was introduced in 2004 with
the objective of reducing the existing backlog
of mining tenements. The Act, which came
into effect in March 2005, has had a
significant impact on the number of
applications being made for mining
tenements in WA.

In March 2006, the Commonwealth
Parliamentary Joint Committee on Native
Title and the Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Land Account published a paper
entitled Report on the Operation of Native Title
Representative Bodies following its inquiry
into NTRBs.The object of the report was to
inquire into native title representative bodies
nation-wide and their ability to discharge
their responsibilities under the Native Title
Act.

The Act extends the terms of both
prospecting and exploration licences and,
importantly, it also requires that any
application for a mining licence be
accompanied by a mineralisation report
substantiating that significant mineralisation
exists in the land that is the subject of the
application.
In anticipation of the amendments coming
into effect, a large number of applications for
mining tenements were filed. Subsequently,
the number of applications being made has
dropped considerably in this reporting period
– a trend that can also be attributed to the
requirement for a mineralisation report with
mining tenement applications.
Further, the Act introduced a scheme to
allow mining proponents to convert their
existing mining tenements to exploration
licences through the grant of a reversion
licence. As applications for exploration
licences are subject to regional standard
heritage agreements,YMBBMAC welcomes
this development.

The report made a series of
recommendations intended to redress the
most significant hurdles to the effective
operation of NTRBs. Two issues in particular
underpin the majority of the nineteen
recommendations contained in the report.
Firstly, the inadequate level of operational
funding of NTRBs; secondly, and relatedly, the
difficulties many NTRBs face in recruiting and
training staff.
The recommendations largely focused on
increasing funding of NTRBs at a
Commonwealth level and on implementing
capacity-building and recruitment programs
to ensure NTRBs are properly staffed.
For more information go to
http://www.aph.gov.au/senate/committee/ntlf
_ctte/rep_bodies/index.htm

Innawonga traditional owner Aquinas Gilba.
Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.
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The Economic Landscape
THE CONTINUING BOOM
Western Australia continues to experience
extraordinary demand for its natural
resources, with a
corresponding boom in its
mining industry. Driven
primarily by the demand
for raw materials in China,
Department of Industry and
Resources statistics reveal
that the State’s mineral and
petroleum production was
worth $38.9 billion in 2005,
an increase of 37 percent
from 2004. Further, the mining industry can
expect to reap the rewards of a forecasted
increase of 68 million tonnes in world crude
steel production to 1.28 billion tonnes in 2007.

The notion of
corporate social
responsibility has
gained increasing
credence in the
past decade

The wealth being generated by this boom is
filtering across the economy to bolster the
position of many sections of the Australian
community. However, one group that has
largely failed to share in the benefits is the
Aboriginal people of the Pilbara, despite
living on the doorstep of this enormous
development.There exists a stark disparity
between the vast development and wealth
being generated in the Pilbara and the
significant level of disadvantage in which
Aboriginal people in this region are living.

At the Wakathuni Community.
Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.
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The Pilbara is hampered by a serious
economic development problem. According
to the Taylor Report, (see box on page 13
for more information) some 15 per cent of
the resident adult population, representing
the majority of its Indigenous population,
“remains overly-dependent on welfare,
structurally detached from the labour
market, and ill-equipped to engage it”.The
report says that the situation will not
improve unless there are deep structural
changes achieved, especially in view of the
expanding needs of the region’s Indigenous
population.
Effort to ensure increased Indigenous
participation in the economic prosperity of
the region is increasingly being flagged as
more than a matter of social justice. Rather,
addressing inequalities in participation is
beginning to be seen as both economically
necessary and socially expedient.

CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY
The notion of corporate social responsibility
has gained increasing credence in the past
decade and many corporations, including
mining companies such as Rio Tinto and
BHP Billiton, have made a public
commitment to ensuring that their
operations have a positive social,
environmental and economic impact on
local communities. It is important that this
rhetoric translates into a genuine
commitment to remedying the inequality of
the wealth being generated by the resource
industry and the socio-economic profile of
the communities in which these companies
operate.
The Taylor Report noted that in the Pilbara,
more than half of all Indigenous people are
unemployed despite sustained growth in
economic activity in the region, and that the
average income of those who are employed
is roughly two thirds of the earnings of their
non-Indigenous counterparts. Although Rio
Tinto and others have expressed interest in
facilitating Indigenous engagement with the
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regional economy, whether or not this brings
tangible benefits to Indigenous communities
will be a test of the mining industry’s
commitment to the philosophy of corporate
social responsibility.
The role played by industry and government
in the creation of the economic
development officer position for the Yamatji
region is a welcome development, and one
that builds on the previous collaboration
between YMBBMAC and Newcrest Mining
Ltd to create the business development
officer and community development officer
positions (for more information about these
roles see page 23). YMBBMAC hopes that
this is evidence of a genuine partnership
developing between mining companies and
Indigenous communities.

NEW DEVELOPMENTS
AFFECTING YMBBMAC –
URANIUM MINING IN WA
In the near future, it seems increasingly likely
that the State Government will be
compelled to reconsider – or, at the very
least, re-justify – its anti-uranium mining
stance. The increasing cost of key fossil fuels,
development of new nuclear power
technologies and a growing public
consciousness of the dangers of greenhouse
gas emissions have combined to present
uranium as a credible energy source.
Five major uranium prospects are known
to exist in Western Australia, comprising
approximately 25 percent of Australia’s
uranium resources. Opening the door to
uranium mining in the State will, therefore,
have a significant impact on many regional
Aboriginal communities and create new
challenges for stakeholders in the native title
process. It may soon become necessary
for YMBBMAC to consult with traditional
owners in order to gauge their views on
uranium exploration and mining on their
country.

THE TAYLOR REPORT
In 2005, the Centre for Aboriginal Economic
Policy and Research released a report
entitled Indigenous People and the Pilbara
Mining Boom: A Baseline for Regional
Participation, commissioned by Pilbara Iron.
The report points to a stark disparity
between the wealth being generated in the
region through major expansion in the
mineral resources sector, and the relative
social and economic status of the Pilbara
Indigenous population.
It notes that the majority of the Aboriginal
population in the Pilbara ‘remains overlydependent on welfare, structurally detached
from the labour market, and ill-equipped to
engage it’, in spite of an unprecedented
labour demand in the Pilbara.
The report regards recent corporate interest
in pursuing Indigenous engagement with
some optimism. However, it calls for the
commitment of mining proponents,
Indigenous organisations and governments at
every level to the enhancement of social and
economic opportunities in Indigenous
communities in order to remedy structural
disadvantage experienced by Aboriginal
people in participating in the mainstream
labour market.
The report can be viewed at
http://epress.anu.edu.au/c25_citation.htm For
more information about the CAEPR report
visit http://www.anu.edu.au/caepr/index.php

Wajarri traditional owners on a survey with Economic Development
Officer Nathan Cammerman. Image by Kali Napier.
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An Overview of the Organisation
YMBBMAC is a native title representative
body operating under the Native Title Act
and incorporated under the Aboriginal
Councils and Associations Act.The organisation
has two operational divisions. In the
Murchison/Gascoyne it operates as the
Yamatji Land and Sea Council and in the
Pilbara as the Pilbara Native Title Service.
The primary role of the
organisation is to conduct
facilitation, certification,
notification, dispute
resolution, and agreement
making functions under the
NTA.YMBBMAC currently
services 30 native title
claims, which are at various
stages of the claim process.
Over time, these claims
should be rationalised to
approximately 25 – each
representing a discrete and
inclusive Aboriginal society. Many of the
claims represented by YMBBMAC involve
areas of high mineral resource value and the
organisation must conduct extensive and
complex negotiations with resource
development companies, including the big
players in the Australian resource industry.

Many of the
claims
represented by
YMBBMAC
involve areas of
high mineral
resource value

YMBBMAC was first recognised as an NTRB
for the Yamatji region in December 1994.
At the time, the Aboriginal Legal Service also
offered native title representation in the area,
but YMBBMAC became the sole NTRB for
the region in April 2000, in accordance with
requirements of the 1998 amendments to
the NTA. Later that year,YMBBMAC also
assumed responsibility as the NTRB in the
Pilbara region.

YMBBMAC staff. Image by Matthew Perkins.
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The organisation has a multi-layered
representative structure, made up of a
governing committee and two regional
committees, but it also consults regularly
with its native title claim working groups and
its overall membership.
YMBBMAC is open to all adult Yamatji and
Pilbara Aboriginal people.The organisation
has a current membership of almost 900
Aboriginal people, though its activities as a
native title representative body impact on
the interests of the majority of the
approximately 10,000 Aboriginal people
recorded in the Census 2001 across both
areas. In addition, as residency is not a
requirement of native title,YMBBMAC’s
membership also includes people who live
outside of the representative areas but who
have a traditional connection to the land.
Access to YMBBMAC services is not
dependent on membership and the
organisation has numerous clients and
stakeholders who do not choose to be
members. All members are entitled to vote
at their respective YLSC and PNTS annual
general meetings and special general meetings.

YMBBMAC ACHIEVEMENTS
Among NTRBs and other individuals and
organisations concerned with the advancement
of Aboriginal people’s interests,YMBBMAC is
highly regarded and is considered, by many, to
be the benchmark of good performance in the
field.YMBBMAC prides itself on working at the
highest standards, with its activities and
direction determined by its Strategic Plan.
The organisation is committed to maintaining
and improving its operational standards in the
promotion of its clients’ best interests.
Additionally, it strives to uphold a transparent
and professional manner in its operations.
Throughout the course of the reporting
period,YMBBMAC has achieved major
outcomes for its clients – both in an
immediate and longer-term sense.These
achievements have been broad and have
encompassed, among other things, native title
negotiations, organisational development, and
the expansion of policy direction and scope.
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YAMATJI LAND AND SEA COUNCIL
ACHIEVEMENTS INCLUDED:
• Establishment of the Caring for Country
team following the appointment of two
officers.
• Appointment of the Yamatji Economic
Development Officer.
• Signing of a range of future act agreements,
including the unprecedented exploration
agreement between Midwest Corporation
and Wajarri Yamatji.
• Registration of the combined Wajarri
(Wajarri Yamatji) claim.
• Resolution of overlaps between Wajarri
Yamatji and Malgana.
• Participation of Yugunga-Nya in the North
West Cluster Land Summit : resolution of
overlaps with two Goldfields claims and the
inclusion of appropriate Yugunga-Nya
claimants on the combined Sir Samuel claim.
• Resolution of overlaps between Badimia
and two Goldfields claims.
• Submission of the Thudgari Connection
Report to the State.

• Agreement was reached between pastoral
lease holders and native title holders in
relation to Ngarla country, an important
step towards a consent determination.
• Native title claim groups were supported in
their efforts to achieve more autonomy in
respect of management of heritage work,
including the retention of a traditional
owner-controlled organisation to provide
ethnographic services.
• A Community Development Officer was
appointed.The position is funded by
Newcrest Mining as part of a 2003
agreement with a number of Pilbara claim
groups.
• A Heritage Officer was employed in the
South Hedland office.This will accelerate the
timely and efficient completion of heritage
surveys and reports.
• The new PKKP claim was filed and accepted
for registration by the NNTT.
• Important milestones were achieved in
relation to the native title agreement over
the Burrup and Maitland industrial estates.

• Establishment of a trust for Ngoonooru
Wadjari, Amangu and Gnulli.

• A trust was established to hold benefits on
behalf of Ngarluma and Yindjibarndi people
under the Northern Link agreement.

• Successful application for funding from the
Heritage Trust to map and preserve cultural
values in the Weld Ranges.

• Cross cultural training for all Pilbara staff and
some Perth staff was delivered on country
at Millstream-Chichester National Park.

• A Heritage Officer was employed in the
Geraldton office.This will accelerate the
timely and efficient completion of heritage
surveys and reports.

PILBARA NATIVE TITLE SERVICE
ACHIEVEMENTS
• 16 major future act agreements were
reached between proponents and Pilbara
native title claim groups, including those
reached with Rio Tinto Iron Ore and
Fortescue Metals Group.
• The Nyangumarta Connection Report was
provided to the State Government Office
of Native Title for review as a condition
precedent to consent determination
negotiations.

Yamatji Regional Manager Fred Taylor and Aboriginal Liaison Officer
Robert ‘Jack’ Callow. Image by CFC Team.
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THE COMMITTEES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Governing Committee

Our Vision

YMBBMAC’s over-all policy direction is
provided by its Governing Committee.The
committee acts as an advocate for traditional
owners in the wider Pilbara and Yamatji
regions, particularly in relation to government
activities affecting land as well as in mining
and development issues. Ultimately
responsible for the performance of the
organisation’s statutory functions, the
Governing Committee is also accountable to
the members of the organisation.

Our vision is to be recognised within the
Indigenous community at a regional, state and
national level as providing excellent
professional services and representation to
our members, clients and constituents.

The Governing Committee is made up of
members of the organisation’s two regional
committees. Six members from each
committee join to form the twelve-member
Governing Committee, providing equal
representation of the Yamatji and Pilbara
regions. During the reporting period the
Governing Committee members were:
YLSC members

Anthony Dann
(Co-chairperson until Mar 06)

6*

Wayne Warner
(Co-chairpersonfrom Mar 2006)

1*

Roy Bellottie

6*

Mervyn Councillor

6

Vince Jones

7

Allen ‘Boyo’ Mitchell

7

Richard Oakley

6

Ben Roberts

1*

PNTS members
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Number of meetings
attended (out of seven)

Number of meetings
attended (out of seven)

Neil Finlay
(Co-chairperson)

7

Doris Eaton

6

Peter Jeffries

1

Natalie Parker

7

Margaret ‘Nyaparu’
Rose

7

Toby Smirke

7

Our Mission
Our mission is to assist Pilbara and Yamatji
traditional owners to gain rightful recognition
of their culture, acceptance as native title
holders of their land, achievement of social
justice outcomes and engagement in
appropriate and sustainable economic
development.
Our Values
• Operating in an open, honest, loyal and
accountable manner in all dealings to help
achieve native title and other outcomes for
claimants and constituents.
• Maintaining respect in dealings with
claimants, constituents, industry,
government agencies, governing
committees and staff.
• Respecting people’s views, values, opinions,
land, culture and families.
• Ensuring delivery of a friendly and easily
understood service to claimants and
constituents with confidence, pride,
excellence, creativity, accountability,
efficiency, timeliness and diligence.
• Maintaining the highest levels of
professionalism.
The Governing Committee held seven
meetings during the reporting period; four
regular meetings, one special meeting for the
enterprising bargaining agreement, one for
the 2005 Annual Report and one for travel
allowance and mileage rates.
* This committee member has not been part
of the Governing Committee for all of the
reporting period and, therefore, was not
required to attend all meetings.st levels of
professionalism.
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Jupala (Dales Gorge)
Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography
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YLSC Regional Committee

PNTS Regional Committee

The Yamatji Regional Committee provides the
policy direction for YMBBMAC on native title
matters within the Yamatji region.
Representatives on the Yamatji Regional
Committee are elected from the eligible YLSC
membership, most of whom are from claims
represented by the organisation. Members of
the committee include those elected by ballot
at Yamatji annual general meetings and the
Executive Director who holds the position of
an ex-officio, non-voting member. During the
reporting period the elected members of the
Yamatji Regional Committee were:

The policy direction for YMBBMAC on native
title matters within the Pilbara region is
provided by the Pilbara Regional Committee.
Each native title claim represented by
YMBBMAC in the Pilbara nominates a
representative to the Pilbara Regional
Committee. Its membership also includes the
Executive Director, who acts as an ex-officio,
non-voting member. During the reporting
period the members of the Pilbara Regional
Committee were:

Committee Member

Number of meetings
attended (out of four)

Anthony Dann
(Chairperson until March 06)

3*

Wayne Warner
(Chairperson from March 06)

2*

Mervyn Councillor
(Vice Chairperson)

4

Roy Bellottie

5

Robin Boddington

1

Mavis Curley

5

Colin Hamlett

5

Laurence Hodder

1*

David George Jones

Neil Finlay
(Chairperson)

4

Doris Eaton (DeputyChairperson)

4

Robyn Churnside

3

Nora Cooke

4

Simone Hubert

0

Norma James

1

Terry Jaffries

3

Peter Jeffries

4

Marjorie Parker

1

Natalie Parker

4

4

Margaret ‘Nyaparu’
Rose

3

Vince Jones

4

Toby Smirke

4

Allen ‘Boyo’ Mitchell

5

Les Stevens

1

Victor Mourambine

0*

Alec Tucker

1

Kathleen Musulin

4

Jill Tucker

2

Richard Oakley

5

Roy Tommy

3

Yvonne Radcliffe

1*

Ben Roberts

5

The Pilbara Regional Committee held four
meetings during this reporting period.

Ron Simpson

2*

Committee Training

Peter Windie

5

Providing training opportunities for committee
members continues to be a priority for
YMBBMAC. In the reporting period, selected
Governing Committee members attended the
2006 Native Title Conference in May; both
regional committees attended governance
training provided by OIPC in August 2005.

The Yamatji Regional Committee held five
meetings during 2005/06; four normal
meetings and one special meeting for the
election of chairperson and vice chairperson.
* This person was not a member of the YLSC
committee for the full year.

18

Committee Member Number of meetings
attended (out of four)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
YMBBMAC is organised and governed by
complementary frameworks which ensure that
the organisation is effective; delivers quality
outcomes; and is efficient in its use of limited
resources to deliver services required by
stakeholders and funders.
The organisation is functionally structured into
teams to deliver complementary services. A
mix of professionals and other staff are
employed to deliver outputs that align with the
Strategic Plan and Operational Plans and
comply with all relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements. Regular reporting to
the committee, stakeholders, internal
management and funders ensures that the
strategic direction is maintained.The
YMBBMAC Constitution is strengthened by
sound and clear policies and procedures which
are consistently applied to ensure good
governance and accountability.
The principal mechanism by which the
organisation takes instructions and provides
advice and information is through working
groups, which are authorised by the entire
native title claim group. The level and kind of
services provided to each native title claim
group is regulated by a formal retainer
agreement containing shared responsibilities
and the prioritisation framework adopted by
YMBBMAC in accordance with statutory
requirements.
YMBBMAC has an effective and efficient
financial management system and framework
which is robust and transparent. Regular
reporting within the organisation adheres to all
applicable statutory requirements including the
Native Title Act, all tax Acts and relevant State
Acts.We also adhere to Australian accounting
standards, with the two senior finance
personnel suitably qualified with continuing
professional development obligations.The Chief
Financial Officer is a fellow and certified
practicing accountant and the Senior
Accountant holds the equivalent of a CPA
designation from the UK.This ensures that
current practices and standards are utilised.
Regular reporting on multiple levels both
externally and internally ensures that the
financial management of the organisation is
protected; is commensurate with plans; and
that financial risks are identified and managed
appropriately. The Policy and Procedures
Manual, endorsed by the Governing

Committee, provides a framework for effective
financial governance. External auditors are
appointed to give assurance to the committee
that financial matters are performed to the
required standard.
Funding Levels and Finance Result
YMBBMAC acknowledges that its funding
levels have increased in recent years to
counter the significant
increase in input costs and
to be able to meet the
demands of progressing
native title outcomes over
some thirty claims.
However, in view of the
continuing high level of
activity it is required to
perform over an area with
high resource
development, the
organisation continues to
struggle at its present
funding levels to meet the
demands on its resources.

YMBBMAC is
organised and
governed by
complementary
frameworks
which ensure that
the organisation
is effective

Inadequate Commonwealth funding interferes
with the ability of NTRBs to fulfil their
statutory role and also hinders the execution
of broader responsibilities of consultation,
negotiation and representation of native title
interests. More specifically, inadequate funding:
• Hinders a proactive approach to
native title claims.
• Limits the possibilities available to
NTRBs in strategic planning.
• Fails to recognise obligations outside
NTRB control.
In addition, inadequate funding frustrates
NTRBs, the native title claimants and other
stakeholders in the native title process.
In 2005/06,YMBBMAC generated gross
revenue in excess of $12 million for the first
time, mainly from native title funding and
negotiation and heritage work in the Pilbara.
However, consistent with the organisation’s
objectives of assisting Aboriginal people,
these funds were all allocated to direct
expenses in providing funds for meeting
expenses, travel costs and research and
survey costs. In fact the surplus in 2005/06
was lower than in 2004/05. For more details,
please see the Financial Statements.

Annual Report 2006 Yamatji Marlpa Barna Baba Maaja Aboriginal Corporation

19

An Overview of the Organisation (Cont.)
Senior Management
YMBBMAC’s management structure promotes
regional service delivery. Except where some
regional services are most efficiently – or
necessarily - provided from Perth, the
management of the organisation revolves
around the operations of the Geraldton office
(for the Yamatji region) and the South Hedland
Office (for the Pilbara region). PNTS subregional offices are located in Karratha and
Tom Price.

The position involved co-ordinating
relationships between the organisation and
claimant groups; intra-Indigenous mediation in
relation to the claims process; preparation and
lodgement of native title claims; the progress of
native title claims; the resolution of native title
claims; and future act and heritage processes.

Organisational performance management is the
function of the Management Group, which
consists of five senior officers from the
organisation. During the reporting period, the
Senior Management Group consisted of the
following five senior officer positions:

The role also had a policy and management
element.This included representing YMBBMAC
in State and national forums concerned with
the formulation of legal strategy as well as
assisting in developing budgets and managing
all legal and research staff.

Executive Director

Helen Lawrence was appointed to this position
in October 2005, following David Ritter’s
departure in September 2005.

As Executive Director, Simon Hawkins was
responsible for the implementation of the
YMBBMAC Strategic Plan and the
administration and the overall management of
the organisation on behalf of the Governing
Committee. As YMBBMAC’s public officer, the
ED was accountable to the various forms of
legislation that determine the responsibilities
and conduct of the organisation. In this role, the
ED ensured that the policies and decisions of
the Governing Committee and the regional
committees were implemented; that the
organisation observed its legal responsibilities including its responsibilities as a native title
representative body - and that it met its
obligations under agreements entered into with
other parties. In line with this, the ED met
regularly with claimants to discuss issues
affecting their native title and overall
membership of the organisation.
The position also had an advocacy and policy
function. In promoting the interests of
YMBBMAC and its clients, the ED was required
to lobby government and industry for policy
change as well as negotiate funding for existing
and new projects.This included making
presentations to parliamentary and other
review committees on a range of topics
affecting the NTRB and its clients. The ED also
promoted the organisation through
conferences and other events.
Principal Legal Officer
As Principal Legal Officer, Helen Lawrence
managed the legal operations of YMBBMAC in accordance with the rules of incorporation,
relevant incorporation legislation and the
provisions of the Native Title Act. In this role,
Helen advised on matters related to the NTA;
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associated legislation and other
Commonwealth and State laws; and statutes
affecting the interests of native title-holders in
the Murchison, Gascoyne and Pilbara regions.

Chief Financial Officer
Chief Financial Officer Stan Stylianou was
responsible for overseeing the financial and
organisational requirements of YMBBMAC for
the reporting period.
The CFO provided financial and administrative
advice to the Governing Committee as well as
ensuring that organisational policies and
procedures were developed and implemented
so that financial and administrative obligations
were undertaken in an efficient, effective and
timely manner.The role also required the
supervision of staff within the corporate
services unit, including the overseeing of
human resources.
Regional Managers
Both YLSC and PNTS operate, at a divisional
level, under the direction of regional managers.
The positions are held by Alum Cheedy in the
Pilbara and Fred Taylor in the Yamatji region.
As members of the YMBBMAC Management
Group, regional managers are required to
promote the organisation’s activities within the
region. In doing so, they must develop and
maintain strategic alliances with Aboriginal
organisations, government agencies and the
private sector. In this position, regional
managers act as advocates and representatives
of the native title interests
of traditional owners in their region.
In addition, regional managers supervise the
efficient operations of the regional offices,
including managing staff.They play a central role
in developing regional budgets and monitor
the status of these budgets.
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

The Governing
Committee Members

Executive Assistant

Executive Director
Communications
& Policy

Principal Legal
Officer

Regional Manager
Yamatji

Regional Manager
Pilbara

Chief Financial
Officer

Strategic
Operations Unit

Administration
& Special Projects

Administration
& Special Projects

Finance

Human
Resources

Land Access
Unit

Yamatji Regional
Legal Unit

Pilbara Regional
Legal Unit

Administration
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DEPARTMENTS AND KEY ROLES
The majority of YMBBMAC activities are
focussed on fulfilling its requirements under
the Native Title Act. However, in the past few
years the organisation has expanded some
of its services to include supportive areas
outside of the ambit of the NTA. As a
result,YMBBMAC’s operational units have,
where necessary, been divided into those
involved in native title business and those
involved in non-native title areas. Naturally,
some services are provided to both areas,
including corporate services and
communications and policy.

Land Access
The protection of heritage and the negotiation
of future acts agreements are intrinsically
linked and are, therefore, joined under the
banner of the Land Access Unit.The conduct
of heritage surveys can have a serious impact
on future act negotiations under the Native
Title Act, despite the fact that heritage work is
not a requirement of the Act.

NATIVE TITLE SERVICES

Heritage

Aboriginal Liaison

YMBBMAC provides an in-house heritage
service for proponents requiring heritage
surveys as part of future act applications.
Heritage work is not, however, a
requirement of the NTA, and as a
consequence, the organisation’s heritage
service is not funded by the
Commonwealth. Rather, it is funded on a
cost-recovery basis, where proponents are
charged to cover the cost of the service and
associated administrative costs.

At the heart of YMBBMAC are the
Aboriginal liaison officers and project
officers. ALOs act as the bridge between
traditional owners and the organisation,
ensuring that cultural gaps are identified and
addressed. ALOs and project officers are the
face of the organisation at a grass-roots
level, providing information and insight for
both traditional owners, members of staff
and other stakeholders. Project officers liaise
between traditional owners, stakeholders
and the broader community. Regional claim
lawyers work closely with Aboriginal liaison
officers in all aspects of their work, receiving
advice and guidance from ALOs in relation
to cultural matters, as well as practical
assistance when convening meetings and
executing documents.
Anthropology

YMBBMAC staff work with traditional
owners to provide professional and culturally
appropriate heritage surveys for mining
companies and other proponents. Some
additional work is also provided by external
consultants where required.
For more information see page 76.
Future acts

Environmental

Both the Yamatji and Pilbara regions continue
to attract considerable future act activity.
Future acts are divided between the small to
medium applications, which are handled by
the organisation’s two future act officers and
the larger applications, which are serviced by
the legal unit.The organisation is committed
to protecting the rights and interests of
traditional owners, while providing
proponents with a framework for a smooth
and efficient future act application process.
The efficient processing of future act
applications relies heavily on the provision of
full and correct information by proponents.

YMBBMAC believes that environmental

For more information see page 74.

Anthropologists work closely with ALOs,
conducting research to progress claims
towards determination.This includes
genealogical research, cultural mapping, and
analysis of ‘laws and customs’ as outlined in
the Native Title Act.This research, in
conjunction with the research of an historian,
is correlated with archival and historical
material for the production of connection (or
other relevant) reports. All anthropologists
work according to a brief issued by senior
regional legal officers/claim lawyers.
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factors are a key part of protecting and
promoting traditional ownership.The
organisation includes environmental
assessments and legislation as part of its
promotion of Indigenous land management.
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Legal
Claim lawyers
The regional legal units form the backbone of
the organisation, servicing the 30 claims that it
currently represents. The majority of
YMBBMAC’s statutory functions and
obligations are organised and discharged by
the RLUs.
Work undertaken by the RLUs is determined
by the organisation’s operational plan and is
reviewed and updated on a quarterly basis by
the senior legal officers together with relevant
staff. Lawyers in the RLUs take their instructions
from native title claim working groups.
The regional units are the critical ‘contact point’
between the native title claimants and
YMBBMAC. Instructions that may ultimately be
acted on by the Special Operations Unit, and
the Land Access Unit are most often obtained
from regional claim lawyers in the first instance.
Strategic Operations
The Strategic Operations Unit members are
‘legal troubleshooters’ who provide special legal

support to claim lawyers, the Land Access Unit
and YMBBMAC management on request.The
SOU can prepare legal opinions, documents,
appear in court, prepare briefs and provide
general legal assistance – particularly in relation
to unusual or difficult matters where no
precedents currently exist in the organisation.
In this reporting period, the SOU absorbed the
Major Projects Unit.
NON-NATIVE TITLE SERVICES
Economic & Business Development
Pilbara Region
The business development officer position
was created as part of the pipeline
agreements between Newcrest Mining Ltd
and Pilbara native title claim groups Kariyarra,
Njamal, Ngarla and Warrarn/Birrimaya signed
in 2003.The position, which has been in place
since January 2004, provides assistance on
economic enterprise and, in particular,
business development to traditional owners
from these groups. Its objective is to help
create businesses for the community, family
and individual members to keep their
community viable and sustainable.

Business Development Achievements
Type of Project

Community

Milestone

Remarks

Industrial laundry

Njamal

a) Project reached upper
level negotiation stage.
b) Project withdrawn
due to unprofitable
price offered.

a) BDO didn’t pursue to continue
with the project due to low
prices offered.
b) Njamal agreed on the decision
taken by the BDO.

Camel industry:
a) Live & meat export
b) Camel ride –
desert safari

Warrarn/ Birrimaya

a) Research completed both local and
international.
b) Feasibility study
prepared.

a) Warrarn/Birrimaya to make
a decision.
b) BDO waiting for their go ahead
decision to pursue project idea.

Indigenous community
bank – South Hedland

Founding members:
a) Karriyara
b) Ngarla
c) Njamal
d) Warrarn/Birrimaya
e) Marapikurinya AC

a) Bendigo Bank,
Community Bank
branch supports
the project.
b) Stakeholders and the
wider community
support the project.

a) Founding members pledged
$500m as seed money.
b) Community organisations and
others in principle pledged their
annual budget of $32 million
for deposit.
c) Project is still ongoing, trying to
meet other requirements.

Bottling of desert
spring water

Warrarn/ Birrimaya

a) Technical and
commercial feasibility
study completed.

a) BDO to present the final
feasibility study to the
working group.
b) Community to decide
what to do.
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Yamatji Region
The new position of economic development
officer is hosted by YLSC but funded by external
sources: Indigenous Land Corporation, Mount
Gibson Iron, Arc Energy Limited, Harmony Gold,
the Water Corporation, Giralia Resources and
the Shires of Greenough and Shark Bay.The
project has a special focus on the mining and
resources industry; however, the broader
objectives are:
• The development of viable and sustainable
enterprises that will contribute to managing
Yamatji country and will provide improved
well being and security for Aboriginal people.
• The development of partnerships between
Yamatji people, government and industry
throughout the region.
• An increase in the employment of Yamatji
people through the expansion of Aboriginal
participation in key industry sectors,
including the resource industry and its
support services.
The EDO project has been up and running
since the start of April 2006. Its first focus has
been on establishing networks and connections
in order to bridge the gap between working
groups, industry and government and the
creation of partnerships to facilitate economic
development opportunities.
Caring for Country
Based in Geraldton and servicing the Yamatji
region, the Caring for Country team provides
Yamatji people with a say in the management of
their country.The team, which was established in
January 2006, currently consists of two full time
staff members.
Caring for Country has two projects to
manage, the:
1. Audit of priority heritage sites in the
Yamatji region.
2. Engagement of traditional owners of
Yamatji country in natural resource
management.

24

In this first six months of the project
much work has been done establishing the
Caring for Country team, laying the
groundwork for engaging Yamatji traditional
owners in NRM and carrying out on-ground
assessments of Yamatji sites of heritage and
natural resource significance.
Some of the major milestones completed to
date include:
• Engaging traditional owners through native
title-working groups and with their
cooperation have set up NRM advisory
groups to assist with prioritising registered
sites of heritage value.
• The development of a communications
plan which includes media policy, an
information package and promotional
activities of our projects.
• Creating a shortlist of heritage sites in Yamatji
country using desktop searches and the
development of an appropriate GIS system
to produce a series of maps and overlays to
assist the prioritisation process.
• The development of resources required to
complete the project.
• The development of a site audit form to use
in the process of doing on-ground
assessments and an update of DIA
registered sites in a culturally appropriate
way. The form is also used to assess the
environmental condition of a site.
• Ten site audit visits were carried out and
assessed for their heritage value and
environmental condition. Completed reports,
which will include supporting information
and photographs (where appropriate), of the
sites, will be forwarded to all stakeholders.
• The process of producing management plans
for three sites of significance is underway
with regard to traditional owners’ aspirations
for Walga Rock.This will be followed by
similar process in Geraldton and Morawa
for sites in the area.
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Community Development
The 2003 mining agreement with Newcrest
also saw the funding of a community
development officer, appointed for the
first time in March 2006.
Sharing time between the offices in the
Pilbara and Perth, the CDO works with
the Kariyarra, Njamal, Ngarla, Warrarn, and
Birrimaya native title claims to identify their
needs, goals and aspirations.The officer also
works with local and State Government,
Commonwealth agencies, resources
companies and other organisations on their
ongoing involvement in the development
of the communities in which their work
takes place.

The aim of this position is to develop and
put in place detailed plans for community
development projects, as well as to set up
corporate structures for the management
of communities and community-based
organisations. Fundamentally, the CDO works
towards the overall legal, social and economic
advancement of local Aboriginal people.
Umbrella Services
Corporate services
The corporate services unit provides the
administrative services and support to
YMBBMAC and its operations.The unit
consists of finance and administration staff,
located throughout the organisation.
The Financial Report on page 83 is produced
by the Corporate Services Unit.

COMMUNITY PLANNING
YMBBMAC is working to ensure that the benefits gained from native title
agreements are turned into lasting social and economic advancement for
claim groups. In doing so, the organisation sponsored the progression of
a community development plan for the Njamal people, one of the Pilbara
native title claims represented by YMBBMAC.
As one Njamal person said:“One day when all this boom is over we will just
be left with big holes in our country. How do we make sure that when the
money is gone, something is left behinds for our kids and their kids?”
YMBBMAC engaged consultant Graham Barrett to work with the Njamal
People to help them work out what the group wants to achieve; how they
will achieve it; how they will organise themselves; and where to start. Njamal
endorsed their community plan at a meeting in May and now have a
planning group working with the newly appointed YMBBMAC Community
Development Officer to put the plan into action.

How do we
make sure that
when the
money is gone,
something is
left behinds for
our kids and
their kids?

The first practical project for Njamal People is to start a school attendance program in Hedland.
The group is negotiating an agreement with government departments about sharing the costs
for using a bus to pick all the Njamal children up and make sure they get to school. They also
want to continue their education grants to help parents buy clothes and books for school.
PPKP, another Pilbara native title claim group represented by YMBBMAC, is undertaking
a similar planning process, having heard about the Njamal plan.
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Communications and Policy
YMBBMAC is committed to having the interests of traditional owners represented in
government and public arenas and, as such, provides information wherever possible and
appropriate to government and the media
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PROJECT

COMMENT

Website launched in
December 2005

The website provides a range of information on the organisation
and its activities.The site can be found at www.yamatji.org.au

YMBBMAC Stakeholders’
Day in April 2006

YMBBMAC hosted its first ever stakeholders’ conference in April
with a central theme of ‘Building Better Partnerships’.The
conference proved successful and has provided YMBBMAC with
encouragement to stage the event annually.
Delegates included members of the State and Federal
parliaments as well as representatives from the resources sector,
public utilities, peak industry bodies and both the State and
local tiers of government.

New briefing,
Working Group Meetings:
What to Expect

Designed to give proponents and other stakeholders attending their
first working group meeting a better idea of what to expect and
how to ensure the best possible outcomes for their negotiations.

At least one newsletter
produced for each
YMBBMAC claim group

The newsletters are designed to keep claimants up-to-date on
developments with their claim.
Efforts are being focussed on increasing the frequency of
newsletter production.

Logo competition held

The search for a new logo was launched in December, with the
competition closing and a winner selected in February.

Promoted
YMBBMAC at
industry and
stakeholder
conferences

YMBBMAC hosted booths at both the July 2005 and June 2006
AMEC conferences as well as the Ngarluma Yindjibarndi Expo in
November 2005.
YMBBMAC representatives gave presentations to a range of
conference audiences, including:
• Excellence in Exploration and Mining, October 2005.
• Native Title Conference, May 2005.
• AMEC conferences, July 2005 and June 2006.

2005 Annual Report
produced and improved

Combined this annual reporting document with promotional
information in order to provide audiences with a total picture of
YMBBMAC and its achievements. Photographs (predominantly
taken by staff) were heavily utilised and well received.

Participation in
parliamentary inquiries and
submissions produced

YMBBMAC gave evidence to two Commonwealth Parliamentary
inquiries, provided a submission to a State Government review
(for more information see pages 11 and 82) and responded to two
external surveys.
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Staffing Levels
Staff turnover continues to exist at dual levels:
the organisation has a core of long-serving
staff, with service of five to six years, but
generally, staff turnover averages around 12 to
14 months.The shortage of qualified and
experienced lawyers, anthropologists and
others within the sector means that the loss of
any staff member can be a significant setback.
Workforce planning takes account of
YMBBMAC’s strategic and operational plans
and its organisational structure.
During this reporting period, the mining boom
resulted in the employment of additional staff
in order to meet the increasing workload in
claims, future acts and heritage.
At the end of the reporting period,YMBBMAC
had a total of 78 staff, with the following
breakdown:

A significant number of staff also participated
in cross-cultural training held in the Pilbara
in August.
Remuneration
Salary awards
The YMBBMAC certified agreement was
ratified on November 30, 2005.
Senior staff salary levels
The salary structure of YMBBMAC senior staff,
with the exception of the Executive Director,
Chief Financial Officer and Principal Legal
Officer, is based on the Aboriginal Communities
and Organisations (Western Australia) Award
2001 and, from December 2005, the
YMBBMAC Certified Agreement 2005.
Occupational Health and Safety

Staff category

Number

Full-time

63

Part-time

9

The occupational health and safety policy was
reviewed and updated during this reporting
period to ensure conformity with good safety
practices.There were no reported issues
during the year. In March 2006 an occupational
health and safety committee was formed,
4WD and first aid training for new staff was
also endorsed by the Governing Committee.

Casual

6

Codes of Conduct

Professionals (e.g. legal officer,
anthropologists)

25

Male

39

The organisation has a code of conduct, signed
by each member of staff as well as a policy and
procedures manual, which contains
YMBBMAC’s code of ethics.

Female

39

Indigenous

18

Non-Indigenous

60

Education and Training
YMBBMAC works to provide committee
members and staff with appropriate training
and educational opportunities, adding to the
skills-base from which the organisation can
draw.
Staff training included attendance of the 2006
Native Title Conference by selected staff; the
YMBBMAC All-Staff conference in February;
and individual staff training development where
necessary to assist people in the performance
of their duties.

Consultancy Services
YMBBMAC actively pursues value for money
for the provision of all its services and always
seeks to obtain at least three quotes. Many
corporate services are outsourced, enabling
YMBBMAC to reduce risk and to access
specialist services.
YMBBMAC engaged 16 consultants to
undertake consultancy work at a cost of
$1,696,787. Consultants are used when there
is a requirement for specialised services which
cannot be met by YMBBMAC staff due to
insufficient in-house resources or where
independent advice is required.
Indemnities and Insurance Premiums
The organisation carries a comprehensive suite
of insurance policies.
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An Overview of the Organisation (Cont.)
Planning
Both business units of YMBBMAC (ie YLSC &
PNTS) conduct planning sessions which begin
in February and culminate in May when an
annual operational planning document forms
the main part of our
submission to the
Commonwealth for funding
and approval of native title
activities in the following
financial year.

Internal planning
takes place
quarterly to
ensure that
our activities
continue to be
aligned to the
Operation Plan.

A half-yearly review is
performed in January and
submitted to OIPC for
information. Internal
planning takes place
quarterly to ensure that
our activities continue to be
aligned to the Operational Plan.Where there
are material variances, a request for variation
to the Operational Plan is made to OIPC.
The operational plans are linked to the
YMBBMAC Strategic Plan, which is reviewed
and updated every three years.
Risk Assessment
YMBBMAC has monthly financial and
operational meetings with relevant staff and
managers to assess current performance and
operations. From these meetings, possible
risks are identified and action plans are made
to mitigate against, or to eliminate, risk.
These meetings are held at different levels,
ranging from operational staff to senior
management, with strategic risks taken to
a committee level.

YMBBMAC booth at AMEC conference 2006.
Image by Marjorie Syddall.
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Ngarlawangga traditional owner Maisey Hyland
Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.

Facilitation and Assistance
YMBBMAC works to provide its clients with
the highest standard of services and
representation in matters of native title and
beyond. In doing this, it meets and exceeds
its requirements as a native title
representative body under the Native Title
Act, which requires it to:
• Research and prepare native title
applications.
• Assist native title claimants in
consultations, mediations, negotiations, and
proceedings relating to native title.

YMBBMAC
seeks to resolve
native title
matters through
agreement, in
accordance with
the wishes of its
clients, the
Yamatji and
Pilbara people.

As part of its role as an
NTRB,YMBBMAC also has
to make decisions about
proposed native title
claims. In doing this, it aims
to make the fairest and
most practical decision for
a specific claim group as
well as for other claimant
groups it represents.

YMBBMAC seeks to
resolve native title matters
through agreement, in
accordance with the
wishes of its clients, the
Yamatji and Pilbara people.
In comparison with adversarial dispute
resolution, mediation is private, quicker and
cheaper, more accessible, more flexible,
produces solutions which are more durable
and preserves continuing relationships.
Despite the limitations and tensions
associated with resolving native title through
agreement, mediation and negotiation have a
greater capacity than litigation to effect the
recognition of native title and the resolution
of native title issues. Effective negotiation
enables the identification and comprehensive
protection of a broad spectrum of claimant
interests and non-native title outcomes.
Yet, in the native title context, agreementmaking is a complex process.The native title
alternative dispute resolution is not merely a
matter of resolving competing interests in
narrow geographical or economic terms, but
takes place in a broader social, political,
historical and legal context. Native title
mediations are also complex as a
consequence of their magnitude.They are
invariably time-consuming processes involving
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large numbers of parties. Additionally, while
collaborative approaches to resolving native
title issues are cost-efficient comparative to
litigation, the complexity and significance of
native title within Indigenous communities,
compounded by a protracted but demanding
negotiating timeframe and the requirements
of the legislative regime, render agreementmaking a resource-intensive process for
NTRBs.
In the course of the 2005/06 reporting
period, the organisation has continued to
operate at a high level of achievement on
behalf of its clients – despite the increasing
demands that have been placed on the
organisation by the resources boom in both
regions.

PROVIDING ASSISTANCE
When determining whether, and to what
extent, assistance will be provided to
claimants, the YMBBMAC Governing
Committee and the regional committees
consider whether a proposed claim:
• Falls wholly or partly within YMBBMAC
geographic jurisdiction.
• Is inclusive. (In considering this, the
organisation will need to determine
whether a proposed claim is brought on
behalf of all persons with native title
interests in the land or waters in question.)
• Is representative and whether the listed
applicants are authorised by the broad
native title group to seek the
determination.
• Is the appropriate native title holding
community.
• Is supported by the available
anthropological and historical evidence.
• Is capable of meeting the requirements of
the registration test administered by the
registrar of the National Native Title
Tribunal, in accordance with the conditions
set out in the Native Title Act.
YMBBMAC will not provide assistance to a
new claim that overlaps with an existing
assisted claim without the consent of the
existing claim. Once assistance is approved,
YMBBMAC will assess its priorities which will,
in turn, determine the direction of its activities.
The type and level of assistance provided will
be reviewed on an ongoing basis and will
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depend on a number of factors including:
• The need to comply with relevant Federal
Court orders.
• The overall level of resources available to
the organisation.
• The ranking assigned to each claim through
the claim appraisal and review process.
Assistance provided by YMBBMAC may
include financial support to meet, fully or
partly, the following:
• Costs associated with claimant consultation
and seeking instructions.This may include,
where necessary, the cost involved in
organising meetings; associated venue costs;
claimant accommodation; and travel costs.
• Costs of legal representation and assistance
- usually in-house but occasionally external including assistance in the negotiation of
future act matters.
• Cost of the ethnographic or historical
research required to prepare a body of
evidence for use in Federal Court
proceedings or for the purpose of preparing
a connection report.

• The Njamal claim was amended to reduce
the external boundary; the registration test
is yet to be applied.
• The Jurruru claim was also amended to
reduce the external boundary; the
registration test is yet to be applied.
• A range of amendments were made to the
Nyangumarta claim; the registration test is
yet to be applied.
• The Puutu Kunti Kurrama and Pinikura 2
claim was filed and registered.
• The Kulyukartu claim was filed in the
Federal Court, further amendment to the
application is anticipated.
• The Kariyarra Yinjibarndi claim was
discontinued.

REPRESENTATION
Yamatji representation
During the reporting period YMBBMAC
provided representation to the following
registered claims in the Yamatji region:
WC Number

WAG Number

Amangu

04/02

6002/04

Badimia

96/98

6123/98

Budina

04/5

131/04

Gnulli

97/28

6161/98

The Wajarri Yamatji claim – a combination of
the Wajarri Elders and Ngoonooru Wadjari
claims – passed the registration test in
December 2005.

Hutt River

00/01

6001/00

Malgana

98/17

6236/98

Overlaps were resolved in principle in relation
to the following claims:

Naaguja

97/73

6194/98

Nanda

00/03

6136/98

• Badimia and Ngalia Kutjungkatja
[WAD6011/00].

Ngoonooru
Wadjari

00/12

6033/98

• Badimia and Samuel #2 [WAD6059/98].

Thudgari

97/095

6212/98

• Yugunga-Nya and Ngalia Kutjungkatja.

Wajarri Elders

01/03

6042/99

In the Pilbara

Wajarri Yamatji

04/10

6033/98

Yugunga Nya

99/46

6132/98

• Any other assistance deemed reasonable or
necessary.
It should be noted, however, that direct cash
grants are not given to native title applicants.

ASSISTANCE WITH FILING NATIVE
TITLE APPLICATIONS

Name

In the Yamatji region

• Wajarri Yamatji and Malgana Shark Bay
People.

• Yugunga-Nya and Koara [ WAD6008/98].

In this reporting period:
• The Nyiyaparli claim was amended and
passed the registration test.
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Facilitation and Assistance
Pilbara representation
During the reporting period YMBBMAC
provided the following registered claims in the
Pilbara region with representation:
Name
Birrimaya

WC Number

WAG Number

95/060

6051/98

Gobawarrah
Minduarra
Yinhawanga

97/43

6173/98

Innawonga

98/69

6285/98

Martu Idja
Banyjima

98/62

6278/98

Ngarla

99/26

6185/98

Ngarla # 2

05/2

77/05

Ngarlawangga

05/3

78/05

Njamal

99/8

6028/98

Njamal #10

00/005

6003/00

Nyangumarta

98/65

6281/98

Nyiyaparli

98/64

6280/98

Innawonga
Bunjima

96/61

6096/98

Palyku

99/16

6287/98

Jurruru

00/008

007/00

Kariyarra

99/3

6169/98

Puutu Kunti
Kurrama
& Pinikura

01/005

6007/01

Kariyarra
Yinjibandi

95/053

6045/98

Yinjibarndi # 1

99/14

6017/96

Kulyakartu

05/7

293/05

Kurama and
Mathudunera

96/73

6090/98

Is this period,YMBBMAC provided
representation to the following determined
native title holders in the Pilbara:
Ngarluma
Yindjibarndi

Near Weano Gorge, Pilbara. Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.
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99/14

6017/96

Gnulli and Thudgari traditional owner and Yamatji committee member Ben Roberts.
Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.

Certification
As part of its role as a native title
representative body,YMBBMAC is required
to provide assistance with certification of
native title claim determinations as well as
regarding the certification of Indigenous land
use agreement registrations. Specifically, its
functions include to:
• Certify, in writing, applications for
determination of native title relating to
areas of land or waters, which are wholly
or partly within the representative area.
• Apply for the registration of an ILUA which
certifies that all the persons identified as
having native title interests in the area have
authorised the ILUA’s making.
YMBBMAC has adopted a certification
procedure in compliance with the Native Title
Act – in particular, with section 202BE(2) of
the Act.The conditions which must be met in
order to achieve certification are that:
• All reasonable efforts have been made to
ensure the application describes or
otherwise identifies all the persons in the
native title claim group.
• All persons in the native title claim group
have authorised the application and the
named applicant(s) to deal with matters
arising from the application.
• All reasonable efforts to reach agreement
with any overlapping claims have been
made and the number of applications over
an area of land or waters has been
minimised.

INDIGENOUS LAND USE
AGREEMENTS
A native title representative body is required
under section 203BH of the Native Title Act to
be a party to Indigenous land use agreements .
ILUAs are voluntary agreements between
native title applicants (or determined native
title holders) and others about the use and
management of land or waters. YMBBMAC is
required to consult with, and consider the
interests of, all people who hold or may hold
native title in relation to land and waters in an
area subject to an ILUA.

• In the case of an ILUA, the application
identifies every person who has native
title interests in the relevant area.
• If the land or waters covered by the
application are wholly or partly covered
by one or more applications (including
proposed applications), all reasonable
efforts have been made to achieve
agreement relating to native title over
the land or waters between the persons
for whom the applications are, or will be,
made.
Native title applicants may appeal to the
YMBBMAC Governing Committee to seek
a review of a decision by the Executive
Director if he or she has refused to certify
an application for the determination of
native title or the registration of an ILUA.
The Native Title Act provides that an NTRB
may exercise its certification function in
relation to claims or Indigenous land use
agreements that it does not normally
represent. No new ILUAs were certified
during this time.
YMBBMAC is required to consult with,
and consider the interests of, all people
who hold or may hold native title in
relation to land and waters in an area
subject to an ILUA.

Aboriginal Liaison Officer and Banyjima traditional owner
John Parker (left) with son Jayden Parker.
Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.
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Dispute Resolution
YMBBMAC recognises that many disputes
about native title and traditional ownership are
long-standing.These disputes have often arisen
as a direct consequence of past government
policies (such as the removal of children and
the forcible removal of people from their
traditional lands to distant reserves and places
of incarceration or forced labour); the violent
seizure of traditional lands and the displacement
of traditional owners by colonisers; or by the
effects of disease and starvation.

In the Pilbara region

Dispute resolution is an important feature of
the operation of native title claim working
groups. As mentioned, working groups bring
together individuals and sub-groups of the
native title claim community to work towards
outcomes that will benefit all traditional
owners for the area subject to a claim. As
such, the working groups also provide a forum
in which areas of disagreement and conflict
can be identified and mediated in a supportive
environment.The working groups also provide
a means by which neighbouring native title
claimant groups may address issues of
uncertainty and disagreement (or identify
opportunities for co-operation) with authority.

Each of the mediation protocols specify
a range of issues to be considered in the
mediations, which may include:

In fulfilling its responsibilities as an NTRB,
YMBBMAC complies with the required dispute
resolution functions. In doing so, it:
• Assists in promoting agreement between its
constituents in making native title applications
or conducting consultations, mediations,
negotiations, or proceedings about native title.
• Mediates between its constituents in making
such applications or conducting such
consultations, mediations, negotiations, or
proceedings.

MEDIATION PROGRAMS
During the course of the reporting period,
YMBBMAC and the State of Western
Australia, with the assistance of the National
Native Title Tribunal, finalised mediation
programs for the following native title claims:

GMY
Innawonga Bunjima
Kariyarra
Martu Idja Banyjima
Ngarla #2
Njamal
Nyangumarta
Palyku
Yindjibarndi #1

• A program for dealing with overlaps
(where applicable).
And where a claim is prioritised for
settlement:
• Establishing the involvement of other
parties and a communication strategy.
• The estimated timeframe for the
production of connection material.
• Agreement on timeframes for assessment
of connection material by the State.
• Timeframes for the provision of
information on areas where sections 47
and 47A of the Native Title Act may apply.
• Timeframes for the provision of land
tenure information.
• A program for agreeing, by consent as far
as is possible, where extinguishment of
native title has occurred.
• A process for third party minimisation.
• A program for agreeing, by consent as far
as possible, the specific native title rights
and interests extant in relation to
particular tenures within the claim area.
In broad terms, the mediation programs set
out a timetable for the progression of each
claim towards determination or other final
settlement.
PRESCRIBED BODIES CORPORATE

In the Yamatji region
Amangu
Budina
Hutt River
Naaguja
Thudgari
Yugunga Nya

Birrimaya
Innawonga
Jurruru
Kurama Mathudunera
Ngarla
Ngarlawangga
Njamal #10
Nyiyaparli
PKKP

Badimia
Gnulli
Malgana
Nanda
Wajarri Yamatji

The Ngarla Prescribed Body Corporate was
established in the Pilbara in this reporting
period.YMBBMAC continues to provide
assistance to the Yindjibarndi Aboriginal
Corporation on future act matters.
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(From left) Valissa Parker, Sidone Rastus and May Kimberley.
Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.

Native Title Claim Updates YAMATJI REGION
AMANGU

Working Group Members
Clarrie Cameron Snr
Raymond Dann
Barry Dodd
Elaine Elizabeth Forsyth
Rodney Little
Jill P Nicholls

Ross Oakley
Donna Ronan
Rob Ronan
Ronald George Edward
Ronan

Ildephonse Taylor
Kevin James Taylor
Wayne Warner
Colin Whitby
Michael Whitby

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Recognition and
protection

Amangu native title
claim

Progress towards
consent determination
or other form of final
resolution of claim

June 2006

Additional funds were
required to meet the
unexpected and
unprecedented level
of future act activity
within this claim area
during the year
Additional meetings
required during
January-June 2006
Six working group
meetings held as
well as six future
act meetings

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Amangu native title
claim and minor future
act matters

Exercising of notification June 2006
functions, taking
instructions on minor
future matters and
general work associated
with the good care and
conduct of the claim

Completed and
ongoing

Working group
meetings (x 3)
Community meeting
(x 1)

Notification and
general assistance

Six working group
meetings held (as well
as dedicated future act
meetings)
Costs partially covered
by Geraldton
negotiations funding

Recognition and
protection

PROGRESS
REPORT

June 2006
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Native Title Claim Updates YAMATJI REGION
BADIMIA

Working Group Members
Theresa Bell
Ken Bynder
Edward Fogarty
Gloria E Fogarty
Ollie George
Percy George
Olive Gibson

Faye Gidgup
Roderick Hedlam
Laurence Hodder
Vince Jones
Albert Victor Little
Des Little
Hazel Grace Little

Victor John Little
Victor Thomas Little
Des Thompson
Frank Walsh Jnr
Frank Walsh Snr

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Recognition and
protection

Badimia native title
claim

Progress towards
consent determination
or other form of final
resolution of claim

June 2007

There was
increased activity with
high focus on finalising
this claim during
January-June 2006

Continuation of
mediation with the
State and other
respondent parties

Consent
determination of
native title or
alternative settlement

June 2006

Alternative settlement
policy has still not been
settled by the State,
causing delays
The working group has
resolved to submit
additional connection
materials to the State
A new mediation
protocol was agreed
with the State for the
submission of the final
connection material in
February 2007

Community meeting
(x 1) to authorise
consent
determination or
alternative settlement

Authorisation of final
resolution of claim

June 2006

Delayed due to above

Preparation of
claimant affidavits

Court satisfied it is
able to give effect to
consent determination
or other resolution

January 2007

As above

Taking instructions
on post claimresolution corporate
structure

Establishment of PBC
or other corporate
structure

June 2007

As above

38

PROGRESS
REPORT

Yamatji Marlpa Barna Baba Maaja Aboriginal Corporation Annual Report 2006

Recognition and
protection

Protection and
recognition

Badimia native title
claim (small northwestern portion only)

Trial of small portion
of Badimia native title
claim (North West
Goldfields Cluster
litigation)

June 2007

Resolved – no longer
required
Land summit in October
2005 removed overlaps
with Badimia claim to be
resolved by
amendments of
overlapping claims
No longer in trial

Community meeting
(x1)

Instructions on
litigation

July 2005

N/A as above

Anthropological and
historical research

Preparation and filing
of expert reports

September 2005

No longer required as
above

Proof of witnesses

Witnesses prepared for
hearing

October 2005

N/A as above

Presentation of
evidence-in-chief

Substance of case is
presented to the court

December 2005

N/A as above

Ongoing
representation in
litigation

Appropriate conduct
of the trial

Ongoing to
determination in
accordance with
programming orders
and directions of the
Federal Court

N/A as above

Badimia native title
claim and minor future
act matters

Exercising of notification
functions, taking
instructions on minor
future act matters and
general work associated
with the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Working group
meetings (x 5)
Community meeting
(x 1)

Notification and
general assistance

June 2006

Three working group
meetings held
Meetings in 2005 put off
due to sorry business
Several dedicated future
act meetings held

Mediation meetings
(x 2) including field
trips with overlapping
claim groups

Resolution of overlaps

June 2006

Partially completed
Overlaps with Sir
Samuel and Ngalia
Kutjungkatja resolved at
land summit in October
2005, to be finalised by
amendment of
overlapping claims
NNTT assistance with
Widi Mob overlap to be
requested

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006
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Native Title Claim Updates YAMATJI REGION
BUDINA

Working Group Members
Robert Boona
Lorna Corbett
Cyril Hayes
Francis Hayes
Karen Hayes
Les Hayes

Shirley Hayes
Trudy Hayes
Barry Lyndon
Clive Lyndon
Ivan Lyndon
Joan Amey Lyndon

Joan Bessie Lyndon
Marie Lyndon
Nora Lyndon
Jeanette Parker
Dorrie Walley

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition

Budina native title
claim

Progress towards
consent determination
or other form of final
resolution of claim

June 2006

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 06

Budina native title
claim and minor future
act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Achieved

Working group
meetings (x2)
Community meeting
(x 1)

Notification and
general assistance

June 2006

One working group
meeting held

Recognition and
protection
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Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

GNULLI

Working Group Members
Glenda Cooyou
Julie Cooyou
Ron Crowe
Sharon Crowe
John Dale

Syd Dale
Raymond Edney
Ruby McIntosh
Rachael Wendy Mowarin
Gwen Peck

Dorothy Anne Preest
Ben Roberts

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition and
protection

Gnulli native title claim

Progress towards
consent determination
or other form of final
resolution of claim

June 2006

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Gnulli native title claim
and minor future act
matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Achieved

Working group
meetings (x 4)
Community meeting
(x 1)

Notification and
general assistance

June 2006

Four working group
meetings held as well
as dedicated future
act meeting

Mediation meetings
(x 2) including field
trips with overlapping
claim groups

Resolution of overlaps

June 2006

There are no overlaps
for this claim
Possible overlaps may
arise if Thudgari claim
boundaries are
extended
Mediation meetings to
be held in last quarter
2006 following
research

Recognition and
protection

PROGRESS
REPORT
Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)
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Native Title Claim Updates YAMATJI REGION
HUTT RIVER

Working Group Members
Clive Councillor
Keith Councillor
Nikki Councillor
William "Bill" Mallard Snr

William "Willo" Mallard Jnr
Norma McMahon
Shirley McMahon
Helen Nutter

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition and
protection

Hutt River native title
claim

Progress towards
consent determination
or other form of final
resolution of claim

June 2006

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 06

Hutt River native title
claim and minor future
act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Working group
meetings (x 3)
Community meeting
(x 1)

Notification and
general assistance

June 2006
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Shirley Poland
Mary Tullock
Delveen Whitby
Lorraine Whitby

PROGRESS
REPORT

Yamatji Marlpa Barna Baba Maaja Aboriginal Corporation Annual Report 2006

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

One working group
meeting held as well as
a number of Geraldton
negotiations meetings

MALGANA

Working Group Members
Nellie Cocks
Ada Fossa
Greg Mallard
Margo Mallard
Jasmine McMahon
Joan Margaret Mitchell

Kathleen Musulin
Kathleen Oakley
Marion Oakley
Revel Oakley
Richard Oakley
James Poland Jnr

Maria Poland
Lorna Ryan
Delveen Whitby
Anita Winder

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Recognition and
protection

Malgana Shark Bay
native title claim

Progress towards
consent determination
or other form of final
resolution of claim

June 2006

While in-principle
agreement was
reached regarding the
overlap outlined
below, there has been
a lot of additional
activity – to prepare
claim amendments
and re-registration of
the claim to
implement this, this
has required additional
resources not
originally allocated

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Malgana Shark Bay
native title claim and
minor future act
matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Achieved

Working group
meetings (x 3)
Community meeting
(x 1)

Notification and
general assistance

June 2006

Achieved
Three working group
and two community
meetings held as well
as a dedicated future
act meeting

Recognition and
protection

PROGRESS
REPORT
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Native Title Claim Updates YAMATJI REGION
OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Resolution of overlap
with Wajarri Yamatji

Resolution of overlaps

November 2006

Completed
in-principle
Agreement at
community meeting
on 10 December
2005 to amend
Malgana claim to
remove overlap
This has resulted
in the need for
additional activity to
implement this
agreement, requiring
additional resources

Preparation,
certification and filing
of Malgana#2 claim
over unclaimed area

Filing of Malgana#2
Form One application

June 2006

Instructions were also
taken to add the
unclaimed area to the
current Malgana Shark
Bay claim
Preparation of court
documents for filing of
new claim and
combination with
amended existing
claim continuing

Preparation, recertification and filing
of amended Form
One application and
combination with
Malgana#2

Filing of amended
Form One application

June 2006

In process
Very high number of
applicants has made
completion of all
applicant affidavits
difficult
Some still outstanding

Preparation and filing
of registration test
affidavits

Registration of
amended claim

October 2006

May be delayed as
above
Research for
registration test
affidavits in progress
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PROGRESS
REPORT
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NAAGUJA

Working Group Members
Edna May Corbett
Clive Councillor
Lindsay Councillor
Nikki Councillor

Ronald Councillor
Ross Edward Councillor
Phillip Wayne Councillor
Shirley McMahon

Terry Radcliffe
Yvonne Radcliffe
Gerald (Jacko) Whitby

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

PROGRESS
REPORT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Recognition and
protection

Naaguja native title
claim and minor future
act matters

Exercising of notification June 2006
functions, taking
instructions on minor
future act matters and
general work associated
with the good care and
conduct of the claim

Achieved

Working group
meetings (x 3)
Community meeting
(x 1)

Notification and general
assistance

Two working group
meetings held
One community
meeting held

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

June 2006

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)
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Native Title Claim Updates YAMATJI REGION
NANDA

Working Group Members
Jack Capewell
John Steven Drage
Steven Kelly
Clive Edward Mallard

William "Bill" Mallard Snr
Gwen Mitchell
Betty Moreno
Annette (Annie) Pepper

Shirley Poland
Leanne Hazel Randall
June Ruffin
Lorraine Whitby

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition and
protection

Nanda native title
claim

Progress towards
consent determination
or other form of final
resolution of claim

June 2006

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Nanda native title
claim and minor future
act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Working group
meetings (x 4)
Community meeting
(x 1)

Notification and
general assistance

June 2006

There will not be a
need for four working
group meetings
Two held to date
and two community
meetings
The cost of
community meetings
means that any
additional meeting
costs saved from
fewer working group
meetings will be taken
up by additional
community meeting
and so may run
over budget

Recognition and
protection
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Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

THUDGARI

Working Group Members
Maureen Dodd
Ronnie Dodd
Arnold Lapthorne
Charlie Lapthorne

Rose Lapthorne
Wayne Lapthorne
Bella Randall
Edward John Randall

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity Objective Protection and/or
(Key Results)
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition

Thudgari native title
claim

Progress towards
consent determination
or other form of final
resolution of claim

June 2007

Continuation of
mediation with the
State and other
respondent parties

Consent determination
of native title or
alternative settlement

June 2006

Community meeting
(x 1)

Authorisation of
consent determination
or other form of
settlement

June 2006

Not achieved – as
above

Preparation of
claimant affidavits

Court satisfied it is
able to give effect to
consent determination

January 2007

As above

Taking instructions on
post claim-resolution
corporate structure

Establishment of PBC
or other corporate
structure

June 2007

Ben Roberts
Peter Salmon

PROGRESS
REPORT
Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Supplementary
connection materials
were provided to
the State in
December 2005
Following response
from the State in
May 2006 and
agreement of new
mediation protocols,
further materials to be
supplied by October
2006
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Native Title Claim Updates YAMATJI REGION
OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Recognition and
protection

Thudgari native title
claim and minor
future act matters
protection and
recognition

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Working group
meetings (x 4)
Community meeting
(x 1)

Notification and
general assistance

June 2006

Did not require four
working group
meetings
Two working group
meetings held
Additional meetings
will be required once
the State has provided
a formal response to
the supplementary
connection materials

Mediation meetings
(x 2) including field
trips with overlapping
claim groups

Resolution of overlaps

June 2006

There may be an
extension of Thudgari
claim area
Mediation meeting
with affected claim
groups will then be
required
Agreed mediation
protocols schedule this
work for July –
December 2006
Amendment of the
claim to resolve
overlap with Thalanjyi
will occur during final
resolution of claim

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006
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WAJARRI
YAMATJI

Working Group Members
Rochelle Lee
Baumgarten
William Baumgarten
Robin Boddington
Anthony Dann
Gordon Fraser

Colin Hamlett
David George Jones
Muriel Little
Raymond Charles
Lockyer
Len Merry

Pam Mongoo
Joyce Roberts
Ron Simpson
Timothy Simpson
Charlie Snowball Snr
Monty Walgar

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity Objective Protection and/or
(Key Results)
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Recognition and
protection

Wajarri Yamatji native
title claim

Progress towards
consent determination
or other form of final
resolution of claim

June 2007

Achieved
Connection report
research continuing

Preparation, recertification and filing
of amended Form
One application

Lodgment of amended
Form One application

September 2005

Completed – certified
and amended and filed
in Federal Court in
August 2005

Preparation and filing
of registration test
affidavits

Registration of amended October 2005
claim

Completed
Passed registration test
on 1 December 2005

Anthropological and
historical research

Completion of draft
connection report

November 2006

Mediation protocol for
submission of
connection report
amended due to need
to focus on finalisation
of other high priority
claims
Research continuing,
draft to be completed
by April 2007

Community meeting
(x1) to deliver draft
connection report

Connection report
endorsed by
community

November 2006

Submission of
connection report to
the State

January 2007

As Above
To be conducted in
April 2007

N/A as above

In-house review and
peer review

PROGRESS
REPORT
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Native Title Claim Updates YAMATJI REGION
OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Recognition and
protection

Wajarri Yamatji native
title claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Achieved

Working group
meetings (x 5)
Community meeting
(x 1)

Notification and
general assistance

June 2006

Achieved
Five working group
meetings held as wel
as 12 dedicated future
act meetings
Community meeting
to be held in August
2006

Mediation meetings
(x 2) including field
trips with overlapping
claim groups

Resolution of overlaps

June 2006

Partially completed
Malgana community
meeting on 10
December 2005
resolved to amend their
claim to remove overlap
with Wajarri so no
mediation required
All applicants on
Mullewa Wadjari claim
deceased so no
mediation possible

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Ongoing
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YUGUNGA NYA

Working Group Members
Mavis Curley
Alison K Gentle
Leonie Ruth Gentle
Evelyn Gilla

Richard Kyanga
Elizabeth Clara Little
Hazel Grace Little
Marlene Shar

Vivian Shar
Billy Shay
Rex Shay
Ron Eric Shay

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

PROGRESS
REPORT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity Objective
(Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition and
protection

Yugunga Nya native
title claim

Progress towards
consent determination
or other form of final
resolution of claim

June 2006

Yugunga Nya native
title claim

Trial of part of
Yugunga-Nya native
title claim (North
West Goldfields
Cluster litigation)

January 2006

Following directions
hearing on 8 February
2006 trial has been
vacated
Mediation protocols
to be developed in
conjunction with the
State, GLSC and
overlapping claim in
accordance with
Federal Court
directions

Community meeting
(x 1)

Instructions on
litigation

July 2005

N/A
Trial vacated as above

Anthropological and
historical research

Preparation and filing
of expert reports

September 2005

As above

Proof of witnesses

Witnesses prepared
for hearing

October 2005

N/A as above

Presentation of
evidence-in-chief

Substance of case
is presented to
the Court

December 2005

N/A as above

Ongoing
representation in
litigation

Appropriate conduct
of the trial

Ongoing to
determination in
accordance with
programming orders
and directions of the
Federal Court

N/A as above

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)
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Native Title Claim Updates YAMATJI REGION
OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Combined working
group meetings (x 2)

Progression of intraIndigenous mediation
with Wutha native title
claim

August 2005

Partially Achieved
One meeting held
In-principle agreement
reached
Further mediation
meetings will be held
following agreement
of mediation protocol,
after Wongatha
decision handed down,
as per Federal Court
directions

Community meeting
(x 1)

Authorisation of
combined claim and
applicants

October 2005

Not achieved
N/A
Wutha has not formally
accepted resolution
proposal
New mediation
protocol to be
developed as above

Certification and
filing of amended
Form One

Lodgment of
amended claim

November 2005

N/A as above

Registration test
affidavits

Registration of
amended claim

January 2006

N/A as above

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Yugunga Nya native
title claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Achieved

Working group
meetings (x4)
Community meeting
(x 1)

Notification and
general assistance

June 2006

Achieved
Four working group
meetings held
Community meeting
held on 10 June 2006

Recognition and
protection
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OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Yugunga Nya #2
native title claim

Progress towards
consent determination
or other form of final
resolution of claim

June 2007

Outcome achieved but
this claim is no longer
required
Yugunga Nya people
with interests in this
area have combined
with other claims to
be part of the new
Sir Samuel claim - to be
represented by GLSC following the land
summit in October 2005

Anthropological and
historical research

Preparation and filing
of expert reports

September 2005

N/A as above

Community meeting
(x 1)

Authorisation of the
applicant(s)

September 2005

N/A as above

Preparation,
certification and
filing of Form One
application

Lodgment of Form
One application

September 2005

N/A as above

Preparation and
filing of registration
test affidavits

Registration of claim

October 2005

N/A as above

Proof of witnesses

Witnesses prepared
for hearing

October 2005

N/A as above

Presentation of
evidence-in-chief

Substance of case is
presented to the
Court

December 2005

N/A as above

Ongoing
representation in
litigation

Appropriate conduct
of the trial

Ongoing to
determination in
accordance with
programming orders
and directions of the
Federal Court

N/A as above

Recognition and
protection

PROGRESS
REPORT
Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)
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Native Title Claim Updates PILBARA REGION
BIRRIMAYA

Working Group Members
Biddy Bunwarrie
Kevin Fred
Frank French
Grey Gardiner

Lindsay Ginger
Kim Jack
Polly Jack
Bruce Thomas

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Recognition

Birrimaya native title
claim

Progress towards
consent determination
or other resolutions of
claim

Mediation with
Njamal
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Dennis Thomas
Kenny Thomas
Lola Walker
Bill Williams

PROGRESS
REPORT
Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Final resolution of
overlap between
Birrimaya and Njamal

June 2006

Ongoing
Recognition and
protection

Birrimaya native title
claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 2)

June 2006

Completed
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GOBAWARRAH
MINDUARRA
YINHAWANGA

Working Group Members
Arthur Flatfoot
Eric Galby
Gloria Smith
Alloway Smirke
Nathaniel Smirke

Beverley Taylor
Kurston Tommy
Nancy Tommy
Robyn Tommy
Roy Tommy

Gladys Walker
Julie Walker
Peter Walker

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

PROGRESS
REPORT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity Objective Protection and/or
(Key Results)
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition

GMY native title claim

Progress towards
consent determination

Anthropological
research

Complete claim group
description for
combined claim

July 2005

Completed and
approved at
community meeting

Anthropological
research

Life histories

September 2005

Completed

Community meeting

Final instructions to
combine GMY and
Innowonga native title
claims with the
Innawonga portion of
IBN claim

April 2006

To be completed later
in the next period
pending amendment to
MIB/IB(N) claims

Community meeting

Authorisation of
combined claim and
applicants

May 2006

Completed

Certification and filing
of Form One

Lodgment of claim

June 2006

To be completed in the
next reporting period

Registration test
affidavits

Registration of claim

November 2005

Partially complete

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Completed for the
current period
Ongoing in the next
period

Recognition and
protection

GMY native title
claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of notification
functions, taking
instructions on minor
future act matters and
general work associated
with the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

June 2006

Completed

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)
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Native Title Claim Updates PILBARA REGION
INNAWONGA

Working Group Members
Clay Dellaport
Darren Injie
Kenneth Injie
Lorraine Injie
Stuart Injie
Doreen James

Brendan Cook
Desmond Cook
Marlin Cook
Nicholas Cook
David Cox
Thomas Cox

Tadjee Limerick
Vanessa Lyndon
Rodney Parker
Lola Young

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity Objective Protection and/or
(Key Results)
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition

Innawonga native title
claim

Progress towards
consent determination

Anthropological
research

Complete claim group
description for
combined claim

July 2005

Completed and
approved at community
meeting

Anthropological
research

Life histories

September 2005

Completed

Community meeting

Final instructions to
combine GMY and
Innowonga native title
claims with the
Innawonga portion of
IBN claim

April 2006

To be completed later
in the next period
pending amendment to
MIB/IB(N) claims

Community meeting

Authorisation of
combined claim and
applicants

May 2006

Completed

Certification and filing
of Form One

Lodgment of Claim

June 2006

To be completed in the
next reporting period

Registration test
affidavits

Registration of claim

November 2005

Partially complete

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Completed for the
current period
Ongoing in the next
period

Innawonga native title
claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of notification
functions, taking
instructions on minor
future act matters and
general work associated
with the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

June 2006

Completed

Recognition and
protection
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Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

INNAWONGA
BUNJIMA

Working Group Members
May Byrne
George Derschow
Keith Lethbridge
Alice Smith

Charlie Smith
Helen Smith
John Todd
Karen Tommy

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Recognition

IBN (Banyjima) native
title claim

Progress towards
consent determination

Anthropological
research

Recognition and
protection

Alec Tucker
Gladys Tucker
Greg Tucker
Maryanne Tucker

PROGRESS
REPORT
Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Complete claim group
description for unified
Banyjima claim (MIB &
IBN)

July 2005

Completed

Anthropological
research

Life histories

September 2005

Completed

Community meeting

Final instructions to
August 2005
combine MIB native title
claim with the Bunjima
portion of IBN claim

Completed

Community meeting

Authorisation of
combined claim and
applicants

August 2005

Completed

Certification and filing
of Form One

Lodgment of claim

March 2006

Ongoing
Delays in obtaining
execution of some
affidavits

Registration test
affidavits

Registration of claim

March 2006

Ongoing

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Completed for the
current period
Ongoing in the next

IBN (Banyjima) native
title claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of notification
functions, taking
instructions on minor
future act matters and
general work associated
with the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

June 2006

Completed

Annual Report 2006 Yamatji Marlpa Barna Baba Maaja Aboriginal Corporation

57

Native Title Claim Updates PILBARA REGION
JURRURU

Working Group Members
Alex Alexander
Brenda Alexander
Fabian Alexander
Ruth Alexander
Richard Cox
Shirlene Cox
Jason Hubert
Malcolm Hubert

Kelvin Limerick
Rhonda Norma,
Alloway Smirke
Anthony Smirke
Brenda Smirke
David Smirke
Ivan Smirke
Linda Smirke

Lorraine Smirke
Paula Smirke
Peggy Smirke
Richard Smirke
Shirley Smirke
Toby Smirke

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition

Jurruru native title
claim

Progress towards
consent determination

Beyond June 2006

Anthropological
research as to
boundary

Anthropological
report completed

December 2005

Completed

Legal advice prepared
based on
anthropological report

Legal advice presented
to relevant groups

December 2005

Completed

Preparation of new
claim if required

New claim filed

March 2006

Not required in this
reporting period

Registration test
affidavits

Registration of new
claim

Anthropological
research for
connection report

Primary genealogies
and cultural mapping
completed

June 2006

Compilation of existing
research and brief to
consultant completed

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

December 2005

Completed
Work arising will
continue throughout
the next period

Jurruru native title
claim and minor future
act matters

Exercising of notification
functions, taking
instructions on minor
future act matters and
general work associated
with the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 2)

June 2006

Completed

Recognition and
protection
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PROGRESS
REPORT
Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Not required
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KARIYARRA

Working Group Members
Brenda Alec
Alfred Barker
Archie Captain
Sharon Captain
Wally Charleston
Cyril Gordon

Junior Gordon
Raylene Gordon
Karen Kelly
Irene Roberts
Teddy Roberts
Diana Robinson

Kerry Robinson
Les Stevens
Kevin Stewart
Thomas Monaghan
Elsie Williams

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition

Kariyarra native title
claim

Progress towards
consent determination

December 2005

Further research
concerning the
traditional laws and
customs underpinning
rights and interests

Supplementary report
submitted to the State

July 2005

Completed December
2005

Continuation of
NNTT mediation
with all respondent
parties

Consent determination
of native title

June 2006

Ongoing

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

September 2005

Key witnesses have
made affidavits
Taking of preservation
evidence not proposed
at this time, pending
progress of mediation

Preparation of
claimant affidavits

Court satisfied it is
able to give effect to
consent determination

After June 2006

Affidavits supporting
connection completed

Kariyarra native title
claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act matters
and general work
associated with the
good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

June 2006

Completed

Recognition and
protection

PROGRESS
REPORT
Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Annual Report 2006 Yamatji Marlpa Barna Baba Maaja Aboriginal Corporation

59

Native Title Claim Updates PILBARA REGION
KULYAKARTU

Working Group Members
Kulyakartu does not yet
have a working group.

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Recognition and
protection

Kulyukartu (new
native title claim)

Progress towards
consent determination

Preliminary research
and community
meeting
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PROGRESS
REPORT
Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Authorisation of claim
and applicant

September 2005

Completed

Certification and
filing of amended
form

Lodgment of claim

September 2005

Completed

Registration test
affidavits

Registration of claim

September 2005

Completed

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

December 2005

Completed
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KURAMA &
MATHUDUNERA

Working Group Members
Jack Alexander
Red Alexander
Brendan Bobby
Georgina Bobby
Joan Evans

Neil Finlay
Cyril Lockyer
Darielle Lockyer
Gloria Lockyer
Jean Lockyer

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Recognition

Kuruma
Marthudunera
native title claim

Progress towards
consent determination

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses
Recognition and
protection

Mark Lockyer
Sharon Lockyer
Valerie Lockyer
Anne Wally

PROGRESS
REPORT
Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Completed for the
current period
Ongoing in the next

Kuruma
Marthudunera
native title claim
and minor future
act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

June 2006

Completed
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Native Title Claim Updates PILBARA REGION
MARTU IDJA
BANYJIMA

Working Group Members
Eric Carey
Kimsey Coffin
Elizabeth Dowton
Dawn (Roberta) Hicks
Margaret Lapthorne
Henry Long
Patrick Long
Douglas McCarthur

Ron Mills Snr
Brendan Parker
Eric Parker
Garry Parker
Horace Parker
Johnny Parker
Maitland Parker
Margaret Parker

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Recognition

MIB (Banyjima) native
title claim

Progress towards
consent determination

Anthropological
research

Recognition and
protection
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Marjorie Parker
Rex Parker
Suzanne Parker
Trevor Parker
Winston Parker
Wobby Parker

PROGRESS
REPORT
Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Complete claim group
description for unified
Banyjima claim
(MIB & IBN)

July 2005

Completed

Anthropological
research

Life histories

September 2005

Completed

Community meeting

Final instructions to
combine MIB native title
claim with the Bunjima
portion of IBN claim

August 2005

Completed

Community meeting

Authorisation of
combined claim and
applicants

August 2005

Completed

Certification and filing
of Form One

Lodgment of claim

March 2006

Ongoing
Delays in obtaining
execution of some
affidavits

Registration test
affidavits

Registration of claim

March 2006

Ongoing

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Completed for the
current period
Ongoing in the next

MIB (Banyjima) native
title claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of notification
functions, taking
instructions on minor
future act matters and
general work associated
with the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

June 2006

Completed
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NGARLA

Working Group Members
Alexander Brown
Larissa Brown
Lena Brown
Colletta Cooke

Nora Cooke
Edna Coppin
Joe Coppin
Brenda Lee

David Lee Snr
Tania Lee
Robert Turner
Nancy-Lena Wilson

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

PROGRESS
REPORT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Recognition

Ngarla native title claim Progress towards
consent determination

August 2005

Continuation of
NNTT mediation with
all respondent parties

Consent determination
of native title

April 2006

Ongoing
One outstanding issue
regarding
characterisation of
native title rights and
interests
BHP interests to be
dealt with separately

Preparation of
claimant affidavits

Court satisfied it is
able to give effect to
consent determination

April 2006

Ongoing
Affidavits prepared but
determination not
settled (see above)

Taking instructions on
PBC structure

Establishment of PBC

March 2006

Completed
Recognition and
protection

Ngarla native title claim Exercising of
and minor
notification functions,
future act matters
taking instructions on
minor future act matters
and general work
associated with the
good care and conduct
of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

June 2006

Completed

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Working group
meetings (x 3)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)
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Native Title Claim Updates PILBARA REGION
NGARLAWANGGA

Working Group Members
Anthony Hubert
Damien Hubert
Nerissa Hubert
Simone Hubert
Anthony Hyland
April Hyland
Charlie Hyland

Jason Hyland
Maisey Hyland
Daniel Limerick
Diane Limerick
Kellman Limerick
Matthew Limerick
Ruth Limerick

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Recognition

Ngarlawanga native
title claim

Progress towards
consent determination

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses
Recognition and
protection
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Tadgee Limerick
Tania Limerick
Albert Smith
Raelene Smith
Adam Standard

PROGRESS
REPORT
Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Completed for the
current period
Ongoing in the next

Ngarlawanga native
title claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

June 2006

Completed
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NGARLUMAKARIYARRA

Working Group Members
Ngarluma-Kariyarra does not
yet have a working group.

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

PROGRESS
REPORT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition and
protection

Ngarluma-Kariyarra
(new native title
claim)

Lodgment and
registration of new
claim

September 05

Combined working
group /community
meeting of
neighbouring claim
groups

Formulation of
appropriate claim
group

June 06

Not completed
Research and
preparatory meeting
ongoing

Certification and
filing of Form One

Lodgment of claim

June 06

Not completed
Pending further research
and preparatory
meetings

Community meeting

To authorise the
applicant

June 06

Not completed
Pending further research
and preparatory
meetings

Registration test
affidavits

Registration of claim

June 06

Not completed
Pending further research
and preparatory
meetings

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)
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Native Title Claim Updates PILBARA REGION
NJAMAL

Working Group Members
Teddy Allen
Morris Coppin
Doris Eaton
Kevin Geary
Alice Mitchell

Biddy Norman
Gavin Snook
Jane Taylor
Michael Taylor
Tony Taylor

Elaine Tink
Lorraine Williams
Terry Wilson

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition

Njamal native title
claim

Progress towards
consent determination

June 2006

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

September 2005

Completed

Anthropological
research

Completion of
connection report

December 2005

Ongoing
Significant connection
report research has
occurred
Report will not be
completed in this
reporting period

In-house review and
peer review

Submission of
connection report to
the State

January 2006

Not completed

Application to
amend Form One

Adjustments to
applicant, boundaries
and claim description

June 2006

Completed

Recognition and
protection of native
title

Njamal native title
claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act matters
and general work
associated with the
good care and conduct
of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

June 2006

Completed
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PROGRESS
REPORT
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Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

NYANGUMARTA

Working Group Members
Winnie Coppin
Wooda Davis
Susie Gilbert
Alma Gray

Darcy Hunter
Teddy Hunter
Rosie Munro
Margaret Rose

Ada Stewart
Janet Stewart
Fabian Whyardie
Captain Wilson

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

PROGRESS
REPORT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition

Nyangumarta native
title claim

Progress towards
consent determination

June 2006

Anthropological
research

Completion of
connection report

February 2006

Completed

In-house review and
peer review

Submission of
connection report to
the State

February 2006

Completed

Consideration of the
State’s response to
connection material

Development of
mediation program

December 2005

State’s response to
connection material not
yet received

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

December 2005

Ongoing

NNTT mediation
with all respondent
parties

Consent determination
of native title

June 2006

Delayed
Mediation will
commence in the next
reporting period

Preparation of
claimant affidavits

Court satisfied it is
able to give effect to
consent determination

June 2006

Not yet required

Recognition and
protection

Nyangumarta native
title claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act matters
and general work
associated with the
good care and conduct
of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

June 2006

Completed

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)
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Native Title Claim Updates PILBARA REGION
NYIYAPARLI

Working Group Members
Bruce Bung
Billy Cadigan
Baker Lane
Victor Parker

Natalie Parker
Brian Samson
David Stock
Bonny Tucker

Brian Tucker
Charles Tucker
Gordon Yuline
Kimmy Yuline

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition

Nyiyaparli native title
claim

Progress towards
consent determination

June 2007

Further research
concerning the
traditional laws and
customs underpinning
rights and interests in
particular areas

Anthropological
report (consultant)

June 2006

Ongoing
Consultant not available
in accordance with
identified time frame

Nyiyaparli native
title claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

June 2006

Completed

Recognition and
protection
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PROGRESS
REPORT
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Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

PALYKU

Working Group Members
Albert Corunna
Elsa Derschow
Jillian Harris
Peter Jaffery
Terry Jaffery
Cheryl MacKay

David Milroy
Gladys Milroy
Sally Morgan
Tammy O’Connor
Florrie Sam
Charmaine Sinclair

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Recognition

Palyku native title claim

Progress towards
consent determination

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses
Recognition and
protection

Fred Stream
Walter Stream
Dudley Wabbie
Cheryl Yuline
Doug Yuline
Lindsay Yuline
PROGRESS
REPORT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Completed for the
current period
Ongoing in the next

Palyku native title claim
and minor future act
matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and general
assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

June 2006

Completed
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Native Title Claim Updates PILBARA REGION
PEEDAMULLACANE RIVER

Working Group Members
Peedamulla-Cane River does not
yet have a working group.

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Recognition and
protection

Peedamulla-Cane
River (new native title
claim)

Lodgment and
registration of new
claim

September 05

Combined working
group /community
meeting of
neighbouring claim
groups

Formulation of
appropriate claim group

August 05

Completed
Additional community
meeting required in the
next period

Certification and filing
of Form One

Lodgment of claim

June 06

Not completed
May be finalised in the
next reporting period

Community meeting

To authorise the
applicant

September 05

Completed
But additional meeting
required

Registration test
affidavits

Registration of claim

June 06

Not completed
But substantial research
completed

Peedamulla-Cane
River native title claim
and minor future act
matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act matters
and general work
associated with the
good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 2)

June 2006

Completed

Recognition and
protection
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PROGRESS
REPORT
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Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

PUUTU KUNTI
KURRAMA &
PINIKURA

Working Group Members
Jimmy Ashburton
John Ashburton
Tanya Ashburton
Claude Butler
Angie Cox
Maurice Daublin
Maudie Dowton

Maggie Drage
Chloe Hayes
Sandra Hayes
Susanne Hayes-Hughes
Darryl Hughes
Doris Hughes
Margie Hughes

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Recognition

PKKP native title
claim

Progress towards
consent determination

Anthropological
research

Recognition and
protection

Peter Jeffries
Lily MacKay
Robert MacKay
Donna Meyer
Toby Smirke
Selina Stewart
Tony Stewart
PROGRESS
REPORT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Possible modification
of claim group
description

March 2006

Ongoing

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Completed for the
current period, ongoing
in the next

PKKP native title
claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

June 2006

Completed
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Native Title Claim Updates PILBARA REGION
YINJIBARNDI

Working Group Members
Cherry Cheedy
Lyn Cheedy
Jimmy Horace
Joyce Hubert

Jennifer Hubert
Ashley James
Maudie Jerrold
Dora Solomon

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Recognition

Yindjibarndi native
title claim

Progress towards
consent determination

Identification and
proofing of ‘at risk’
witnesses
Recognition and
protection
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Jill Tucker
Bridget Warrie
Bruce Woodley
Michael Woodley

PROGRESS
REPORT
Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Preservation of
evidence

June 2006

Completed for the
current period
Ongoing in the next

Yindjibarndi native
title claim and minor
future act matters

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work associated with
the good care and
conduct of the claim

June 2006

Completed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

June 2006

Completed
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Determined Claim Updates
NGARLUMA

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

PROGRESS
REPORT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity
Objective (Key Results)

Protection

Ngarluma determined
area

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work as directed

Notification and general
assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

June 2006

Completed

YINDJIBARNDI

OUTCOME

OUTPUT

Protection and/or
Recognition of
Native Title

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Intended Activity Objective Protection and/or
(Key Results)
Recognition of
Native Title

Protection

Yindjibarndi
determined area

Exercising of
notification functions,
taking instructions on
minor future act
matters and general
work as directed

Notification and
general assistance

Working group
meetings (x 3)

Future acts funding –
two positions

Assist with future acts
across the region

WA State

PROGRESS
REPORT

June 2006

Activity Name and
Description (listed in
priority order)

Completed
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Notification
A large part of the representative work that
YMBBMAC does on behalf of its clients is in
the area of future acts – that is, with regard
to any act, which will, if conducted, affect
native title.The
organisation works to help
ensure that the interests
and rights of its
constituents are protected
in the processing of all
future acts.

The organisation
works to help
ensure that the
interests and
rights of its
constituents are
protected in the
processing of all
future acts

The Native Title Act
requires NTRBs to ensure,
as far as reasonably
practicable, that notices
about such future acts are
brought to the attention
of native title holders
and claimants.

Notices received by YMBBMAC usually
concern plans by a resource developer or
other potential land users to undertake an
activity that may affect native title rights
and interests.These notices are most
commonly issued under section 29 of
the NTA.
YMBBMAC continues to be involved in
major negotiations relating to significant
resource development in both regions.
These negotiations result from the
unprecedented demand for raw materials,
driven by economic growth in China.

WHAT IS A FUTURE ACT?
A future act is a proposed activity or
development which will, if conducted,
affect native title. One effect could be that
native title is extinguished as a result of a
proposed activity; another is that a
proposed event would not fully allow the
continued existence, enjoyment, or exercise
of native title.

EXPEDITED PROCEDURE
The most common notices under the NTA
are expedited procedure notices. In such
notices, the State Government asserts that
native title will not be affected by the
proposed interest because they consider the
act to be of low impact. State Government
policy asserts that the expedited procedure
applies to all exploration and prospecting
tenement applications in WA, irrespective of
their size, location and nature.
There are standing instructions to lodge
objections to the application of the
expedited procedure, in the absence of an
appropriate heritage protection agreement,
for all native title claims represented by
YMBBMAC.
During the reporting period,YMBBMAC
lodged fewer than half of all expedited
procedure objections in the State and has,
to date, resolved close to half of these by
agreement (see Table 1). It is expected that
the remaining matters will be resolved by
agreement in the next reporting period.
In addition, the number of objections lodged
has reduced in this reporting period due to
the State Government policy which requires
Aboriginal heritage protection agreements to
be entered into before tenements are
advertised under the expedited procedure.
YMBBMAC was involved in developing this
standard agreement.

ADDITIONAL FUTURE ACT
APPLICATIONS
Other future act applications under the
Native Title Act relate to the granting
of mining, miscellaneous or general purpose
leases, or to compulsory acquisitions under
the Land Administration Act.These notices are
most commonlyissued under section 24 or
29 of the NTA.

Future acts can be as varied as an upgrade
of an existing lease or the compulsory
acquisition of native title. It can also apply to
the granting of mining or exploration rights.
In accordance with the Native Title Act, future
acts determine what activity may proceed
over native title land or water and on what
conditions.
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Table 1 - Regional Objection Workload
Region

Active

%

Finalised

%

Total

%

Yamatji

69

20

144

13

213

15

Pilbara

70

20

382

35

452

31%

Goldfields

84

24

476

43

560

39%

Kimberley

80

23

87

8

167

12%

South West

3

1

0

0

3

20%

Ngaanyatjarra

39

11

18

2

57

4%

Total

345

1107

1452

Table courtesy of the National Native Title Tribunal
DISCLAIMER This information product has been created to assist in the understanding of native title matters and is intended as a guide only
“The Registrar, the National Native Title Tribunal and its staff and officers, and the Commonwealth accept no liability and give no undertakings,
guarantees or warranties concerning the accuracy, completeness or fitness for purpose of the information provided.”

WHY DO WE OBJECT?
Discussions between YMBBMAC and the
Association of Mining and Exploration
Companies highlighted concerns by AMEC
members about the land council’s reasons
for objecting to expedited procedures.
YMBBMAC was keen to explain to AMEC
members the simple causes for these
objections and what can be done to
minimise their occurrence. As a result it
provided an article to the AMEC quarterly
newsletter, The AMEC Explorer, in an attempt
to address their concern.
“YMBBMAC objections to expedited
procedures arise when heritage agreements
are not correctly completed or if they are
not submitted. With limited time and
resources,YMBBMAC future act officers find
themselves restricted in the amount of
attention they can give to heritage
agreements that are not correctly
completed. As a result, these agreements will
automatically attract an objection, most
commonly because they:

Rabbit Proof Fence, Nanda Country. Image by CFC Team.

• Do not have maps included with the
agreement.
• Are not witnessed.
• Do not have tenement information.”
The full text can be found on the YMBBMAC
website - www.yamatji.org.au.
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Heritage
Heritage is at the heart of Indigenous culture
and traditional owners’ relationship to land.
Fortunately, these days, it is
also something that the
majority of all Australians
are concerned about.

Heritage is at
the heart of
indigenous culture
and traditional
owners’
relationship
to land

YMBBMAC has standing
instructions from most of
the traditional owner
groups it represents to
assist in undertaking
heritage work on their
traditional lands.The
organisation seeks to
coordinate a significant
number of heritage surveys and other
heritage-related work. Much of this work is
undertaken by agreement with developers.
As a result of the mining boom, many of
these agreements have come about
specifically to assist exploration activities
without compromising Indigenous people’s
rights in protecting and managing their own
heritage sites and places of cultural
significance.

Future acts, an expedited procedure under
the Native Title Act, have added significantly
to the number of heritage agreements signed
and implemented.YMBBMAC is one of
Western Australia’s largest providers of
heritage services - possibly the largest.
YMBBMAC provides an in-house heritage
service for proponents requiring heritage
surveys as part of future act applications.
Heritage work is not, however, a requirement
of the NTA, and as a consequence, the
organisation’s heritage service is not funded
by the Commonwealth. Rather, it is funded
on a cost-recovery basis, where proponents
are charged to cover the cost of the service
and associated administrative costs.
YMBBMAC staff work with traditional
owners to provide professional and culturally
appropriate heritage surveys for mining
companies and other proponents. Some
additional work is also provided by external
consultants where required.
The protection of heritage and the
negotiation of future acts agreements are
intrinsically linked.The conduct of heritage
surveys can have a serious impact on future
act negotiations under the NTA, despite the
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fact that heritage work is not a requirement
of the Act.
YMBBMAC supports claim groups
conducting their own heritage surveys.
However, it notes that the implications for
future act negotiations, and particularly the
potential to exhaust legal rights under the
NTA, should be carefully considered before
such surveys are carried out.

UPDATE ON HERITAGE
AGREEMENTS
The introduction in November 2004 of
regional standard heritage agreements
has continued to act as a safety net in
negotiations between the traditional owner
working groups and mining proponents in
applications for exploration licences and
mining tenements. The vast majority of
working groups have consented to their use.
As a result, the negotiation process is
significantly streamlined.
YMBBMAC welcomes the continuing trend
of decreasing objections to applications
attributable to the use of RSHAs. However,
it notes that incorrect execution of the
agreements has resulted in some difficulties.
These have generally been part of the
learning and implementation process, and
have not significantly detracted from the
success of RSHAs in providing for a more
cooperative approach to land access
processes.
While RSHAs came into being in response
to a government initiative to make heritage
agreements compulsory for all new mining
and exploration tenement applications, it is
not the only option for heritage agreements
between traditional owners and mining
companies. Other heritage arrangements,
including the YMBBMAC Alternative Heritage
Agreement, can be used by applicants.
AHAs are consistent with the State
Government’s policy of ‘agreement not
argument’. Furthermore, these agreements
are not more complex. In fact, many
companies that YMBBMAC negotiates with
on behalf of its clients have opted to use
alternative agreements in place of the
RSHAs. As a result, the organisation
promotes AHAs as the preferred option for
heritage arrangements.
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Agreement Making
YMBBMAC works to ensure the best
outcomes for its members and claimants.The
organisation recognises the importance of
reaching the right agreements as efficiently as
possible. As a result, it prefers to negotiate
outcomes rather than locking horns through
litigation, which slows the process, wastes
resources and rarely delivers the best results
for claimants.This approach applies to all
representation that YMBBMAC offers on behalf
of its members, including its work on native
title determinations, future act negotiations and
broader service-delivery discussions.

YUGUNGA-NYA AND
MURCHISON METALS

YMBBMAC’s commitment to maintaining a
constant openness to dialogue – whether in
discussing new ideas, different perspectives, or
in the face of antagonism – has been a central
factor in determining its success and good
standing with the communities it represents
and in the broader environment.

NGARLA PEOPLE AND
ATLAS IRON LIMITED

2005/06 NEGOTIATED AGREEMENTS
YMBBMAC can boast impressive achievements
in the area of negotiated agreements during
this reporting period - both in terms of the
number and the nature of agreements
reached. Highlights include:
• An unprecedented exploration agreement
was reached between Midwest
Corporation and the Wajarri people over
the culturally significant Weld Ranges.
• Binding initial agreements were signed by
Rio Tinto Iron Ore and six native title claim
groups in the Pilbara.This is the first stage in
negotiations between the groups and the
company, which should, on completion,
provide extensive benefits for the traditional
owners.

June 2006
An agreement was reached between
Yugungu-Nya and Murchison Metals over the
granting of a number of miscellaneous licences
associated with the Jack Hills iron ore project.
The agreement provided for payments for the
granting of each licence as well as payments for
community development and heritage
protection.

June 2006
The agreement concerned the Pardoo
Project, a new mine located approximately
75 kilometres east of Port Hedland.The
mining agreement has given Ngarla People
an unprecedented commercial opportunity
in which they will be able to align themselves
with mining contractors tendering for
business connected with the new mining
operation and receive preferential
consideration where pricing is competitive
and quality requirements are assured.
Besides a modest financial compensation
package, the deal also provided Ngarla
People with shares in Atlas Iron Limited.

• There was an historic signing of three deals
in one day by the Njamal native title claim
group, confirming its status as one of the
leading native title negotiators in the
country.
• Land access agreements were reached
between three Pilbara native title claim
groups and Fortescue Metals Group.
• A mining agreement was reached by the
Wajarri Elders and the Ngoonooru Wadjari
people with Murchison Metals within two
months - a record-breaking period for a
major mining agreement.

Ngarla traditional owners Jeffrey Brown, Sandy Brown and Charlie
Coppin (Kurtiri) with Altas Iron Managing Director David Flanagan and
daughter Grace as well PNTS staff Sukhpal Singh and Rainer Matthews.
Image by Christine Lundy.
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Agreement Making
NJAMAL PEOPLE AND CBH, CML
AND BARRY KAYES
June 2006
The Njamal People made history and
confirmed their status as one of the leading
native title negotiators in the country by
signing three mining agreements in a day.

(Cont.)
WAJARRI YAMATJI AND OZ GEM
June 2006
A mining agreement was reached between
Wajarri Yamatji and Oz Gem over a small
lapidolite mine near Yalgoo.The agreement,
which was reached in a single sitting,
includes compensation, heritage protection
and the provision of an annual supply of
specially carved and crafted headstones.

CBH Resources Ltd
The CBH-Njamal mining agreement
concerned the Sulphur Springs project, an
open-cut copper and zinc mine and
processing plant located 160km southeast of
Port Hedland.The agreement had a range of
provisions; most notably, it met requests by
traditional owners for part of the funds to
be donated to the Royal Flying Doctor
Service of Australia and the Cancer Council
Australia.
Consolidated Minerals Limited
The CML-Njamal agreement concerns the
expansion of the CML Woodie Woodie
manganese mine, located 400 km south-east
of Port Hedland.This agreement had a raft
of provisions. However, one of the pleasing
aspects of the deal was the company’s
agreement to pay compensation for its
existing mine pits as well as for the new pits
it plans to build.This move exceeds legal
obligations under the Native Title Act, which
only requires the company to negotiate with
traditional owners over new activities.
The CML-Njamal deal had a number of
distinguishing features, including funding
allocated for the collection of preservation
evidence to advance the recording of cultural
and historic knowledge held by Njamal
Elders about Njamal language, cultural and
country. Additionally, the deal included funds
for emergency medical care for Njamal
People, while provisions were also made for
the funding of employment and training
initiatives as well as sporting and educational
scholarships for Njamal People.
Barry Kayes (an individual miner)
The agreement between Mr Kayes and the
Njamal People incorporated compensation
and heritage protection provisions.
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GNULLI PEOPLE AND
CARDABIA STATION
March 2006
The Gnulli People concluded a significant
agreement with the Ningaloo Sustainable
Development Commission over a
development in Coral Bay.
The State Government engaged in
considerable negotiations with the Baiyungu
Aboriginal Corporation over the surrender
of part of Cardabia Station and also with
regard to development in the Coral Bay
township.
The agreement provided for extensive
benefits to Baiyungu People which will flow
through to Gnulli People and the broader
Coral Bay community.

GMY, IB, K&M, NGARLAWANGA,
NYIYAPARLI AND PKKP
AND RIO TINTO IRON ORE
May 2006
Binding initial agreements were signed between
Rio Tinto Iron Ore and the six claim groups
represented by YMBMAC in the negotiations:
Gobawarrah Minduarra Yinhawanga, Innawonga
Bunjima, Kuruma Marthudunera, Ngarlawanga,
Nyiyaparli and Puutu Kunti Kurrama & Pinikura.
When finalised, these agreements have the
potential to be among the largest native title
deals ever reached in Australia.
The initial agreements will provide traditional
owners’ consent to, and support for, RTIO’s
present and future operations, and will
streamline RTIO’s native title approvals
processes.The BIAs pave the way for a
smoother negotiation process following the
resolution of the agreed level of financial
compensation for the native title groups.
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However the State still had to clear native title
matters in relation to Coral Bay with the Gnulli
claim group. After ensuring that the agreement
provided for the proper levels of heritage
protection, the Gnulli working group endorsed
the agreement between BAC and the State
Government.

MALGANA PEOPLE AND LANDCORP
March 2006
The Malgana People reached agreement with
the State Government agency, LandCorp, to
allow a new residential land release of
approximately 16 hectares in Denham - a town
made famous because of its close proximity to
Monkey Mia and its dophins.
The agreement was reached in six months and
negotiations were characterised by good-will
and a positive approach by all parties.
The deal includes an option for the traditional
owners to purchase some of the residential
lots as well as payment of a small percentage of
the land sales.
Malgana and LandCorp have also agreed to an
ongoing process of consultation in relation to
heritage and environmental matters.

AMANGU PEOPLE AND ARC ENERGY
February 2006
A heritage protection agreement was
negotiated between Amangu and Arc Energy
covering a number of tenements. An ancillary
agreement was also reached, providing for the
payment of costs associated with establishing
the Amangu Trust and the Amangu Association.
The company has also agreed to ongoing
consideration of funding further social justice
proposals.

WAJARRI YAMATJI AND MIDWEST
CORPORATION
April 2006
The agreement is among the most
comprehensive exploration agreement
packages ever reached. It covers exploration
for iron ore in the Weld Ranges, located in the
Midwest region of Western Australia.
The agreement requires considerable
sensitivity and understanding on behalf of the
company because the Weld Ranges is an area
of exceptional cultural significance for the
traditional owners. It addresses the concerns
and considerations of Wajarri People to
ensure the highest level of protection for their
country.The company has also agreed to
special conditions to ensure that exploration
will be undertaken in close consultation with
traditional owners.
Midwest has agreed to exclusion zones for
culturally sensitive areas of the Weld Ranges,
including Wilgie Mia, which will be overseen by
a monitoring and liaison committee and a
liaison officer, funded by the company.
The agreement also allows traditional owners
to continue to have access to the area, with
consideration always being given to issues of
safety; the group will also be able to maintain
its practice of removing ochre from Wilgie Mia.
A series of dedicated funding provisions were
agreed, including training and education
strategies, as well as a share issue, which will
provide the Wajarri Yamatji group with some
equity in the company.

THE NJAMAL AND PALYKU PEOPLE
WITH WEDGETAIL EXPLORATION
November 2005
Wedgetail Exploration NL signed mining
agreements with both Njamal and Palyku.The
agreements concern a proposed goldmine in
the southeast Pilbara.The deals entail a range
of provisions, including compensation during
the life of the project and a commitment by
the company to employment and training
initiatives for traditional owners.
Wajarri traditional owners reach agreement with Midwest Corporation .
Picture by Linda Back.
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Agreement Making
The agreements also include an undertaking
by the company to environmental and
heritage protection and give the project the
potential to expand its exploration and
production.

AMANGU AND NAAGUJA PEOPLE
WITH MOUNT GIBSON IRON
November 2005
Agreements were reached with both the
Naaguja and Amangu claims and Mount
Gibson Iron in relation to a new pipeline to
be constructed by the company to transport
iron ore slurry from it operations near
Mount Magnet to the port in Geraldton.
While native title is largely extinguished in
the areas affected, successful negotiations by
the claim groups have resulted in strong
interests-based agreements.
Both agreements include compensation,
employment, scholarships and heritage
protection, with additional features such as
support for existing enterprises in the form
of in-kind assistance and targeted resources.

THE KARIYARRA, NYIYAPARLI AND
PALYKU PEOPLE AND FORTESCUE
METALS GROUP
October 2005
Fortescue signed land access agreements
with each of the three claim groups in which
the company received native title consents
concerning its iron-ore mining project.These
agreements mean ‘whole of claim’ land
access for FMG has been reached over the
area within the three claims and allow the
company to have limited areas of freehold
within the claim areas that will be used for
accommodation for its staff and contractors.
The deals create immediate and life-ofproject benefits for the traditional owners,
including financial compensation for the
groups.
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(Cont.)
WAJARRI ELDERS AND
MURCHISON MINING
September 2005
An agreement was signed between the
Wajarri Elders and Murchison Mining over a
small gold mining operation near Cue. While
the scale of the project is not large, the
agreement marks a new record in terms of
royalty payments for gold mining operations.

KARIYARRA PEOPLE AND
LANDCORP
August 2005
The native title agreement concerns a new
beach-front residential land release in Port
Hedland.The deal includes an option for the
traditional owners to purchase some of the
residential lots as well as payment of a small
percentage of the land sales.
Kariyarra and LandCorp have also agreed
to an ongoing process of consultation, which
includes agreement to provide professional
town planning advice for Kariyarra to
minimise the impact of the development
on the environment and Aboriginal heritage.

WAJARRI ELDERS AND THE
NGOONOORU WADJARI PEOPLE
WITH MURCHISON METALS
August 2005
This mining agreement was reached within two
months, a record-breaking period for a major
mining agreement.
The deal, which concerns an iron ore mine in
the Jackhills area of the Murchison, provides a
range of outcomes for the traditional owners,
including compensation, extensive heritage
protection, employment and new business
opportunities. One such outcome is the
employment of a permanent liaison officer
from among the Wajarri people to work with
the monitoring committee to ensure proper
implementation of the agreement.
The agreement is the first stage in a major
project which will incorporate a railway across
the Murchison to transport the ore and a new
port at Oakajee for its shipping.
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Internal Review
Native title representative bodies are
required to provide a process for native title
parties to seek the review of any decision
taken by the NTRB that may affect them,
according to Section 203BI of the NTA.
The same section also requires an NTRB
to publicise the availability of such processes.
YMBBMAC passed the reporting period
without call to perform its internal review
function. Only new applicants for assistance
were specifically advised of the availability
of the internal review process. Existing
recipients of assistance were advised in
writing of the availability of this process
at the time of their application.

COMPLAINTS
YMBBMAC attracted one complaint in
2005/06.The organisation investigated the
complaint and took a number of steps in
response. At the time of reporting, the
situation had been largely redressed, though
further measures may be necessary, pending
the outcome of required policy reviews.

Jupala (Dales Gorge). Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.
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Other Functions
YMBBMAC must, under the Native Title Act,
do all that it can to ensure that it performs its
functions as an NTRB. In addition to those
functions outlined in previous chapters, this
includes:
• Consulting with Aboriginal communities
which might be affected by the matters
with which the NTRB is dealing.
• Co-operating with other NTRBs for the
purpose of promoting the effective and
efficient exercise of the functions and
powers of NTRBs.
• Promoting an understanding about matters
relevant to the operation of the NTA.
YMBBMAC met all these obligations during
the course of the previous reporting period.

EVALUATIONS/AUDIT REPORTS

SUBMISSIONS

ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS

YMBBMAC provided evidence to two
Commonwealth parliamentary inquiry public
hearings during this period.They were:

YMBBMAC has commenced legal
proceedings in relation to securing access to
documents held by the Pilbara Aboriginal
Land Council, formerly the NTRB for the
Pilbara region.

• House Standing Committee on Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander Affairs Inquiry into
Indigenous Employment; Perth public
hearing Friday, October 28, 2005.
• Joint Statutory Committee on Native Title
and the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Land Account Inquiry into Native Title
Representative Bodies; Perth public hearing
Tuesday, July 19, 2005. (See page 11 for a
summary of the committee’s findings and
recommendations, published in March 2006.)
YMBBMAC also provided a response to the
State Government review into the
Department of Indigenous Affairs in May 2006.

MINISTERIAL DIRECTIONS
No Ministerial Directions were received
under the Commonwealth Authorities and
Companies Act.

REVIEW BY OUTSIDE BODIES
There were no reviews by outside bodies in
the reporting period.

JUDICIAL/TRIBUNAL DECISIONS
There were no judicial decisions or decisions
of administrative tribunals concerning
YMBBMAC in the 2005/06 period.
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In March 2006, Fortescue Metals Group
sought a review of YMBBMAC, providing a
briefing of its complaints and concerns about
the land council to the Minister for Families,
Community Services and Indigenous Affairs
and the Office of Indigenous Policy
Co-ordination. In response, OIPC undertook
a review of YMBBMAC in relation to the
allegations made by the company. This review
was conducted, in consultation with
YMBBMAC and FMG, by Philip Hunter, a
partner of Ebsworth & Ebsworth Lawyers. In
May 2006, Philip Hunter provided a report of
his findings and recommendations to OIPC in
which YMBBMAC was largely exonerated from
the accusations levelled at YMBBMAC by FMG.

The documents for which access is sought
relate to future act notifications and claimant or
compensation applications for which claimants
have requested YMBBMAC’s assistance. Claims
for which access to documents are requested
include Kariyarra, Ngarla, Nyangumarta,
Nyiyaparli, MIB and Palyku.
Pursuant to section 203FC(1) of the Native
Title Act, the Minister for Families, Community
Services and Indigenous Affairs issued directions
in April requiring PALC to allow access to, or to
provide copies of, the documents outlined in
Schedule 2 of the directions to YMBBMAC.
Under clauses 4 and 8 of the directions, PALC
was given six weeks from 12 April 2006 to
either:
1. Provide access to the documents to
YMBBMAC as defined in the Schedule; or
2. Undertake in writing to the minister to
allow an independent person to have
access to the documents in accordance
with the optional protocol to the
directions.
Should PALC fail to comply with these orders
by 24 May 2006,YMBBMAC was given
permission to commence an application with
the Federal Court seeking enforcement of
the directions under Order 78 rule 14 of the
Federal Court Rules in July 2006.
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Financial Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2006

Statement By Governing Committee,
Executive Director And Chief Financial Officer
In our opinion, the attached financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 are based on
properly maintained financial records and give a true and fair view of the matters required by the
Finance Minister’s Orders made under the Commonwealth Authorities and Companies Act 1997.
In our opinion, at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Yamatji
Marlpa Barna Baba Maaja Aboriginal Corporation will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable.
This Statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Governing Committee.
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Wayne Warner
Chairperson
Yamatji Regional
Committee

Neil Finlay
Chairperson
Pilbara Regional
Council

Simon Hawkins
Executive Director

Stan Stylianou
Chief Financial Officer

22 Sept 2006

22 Sept 2006

22 Sept 2006

22 Sept 2006
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Income Statement
For the year ended
30 June 2006

Consolidated
Notes

REVENUE
Revenues from ordinary activities
Revenue from Commonwealth Government

NTRB Activities

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

6,380,106

5,895,821

6,380,106

5,895,821

Revenue from services

5A

5,287,141

3,936,077

1,590,856

1,635,564

Interest

5B

110,934

107,305

82,326

107,305

Revenue from sale of assets

5C

63,636

51,418

63,636

51,418

Other

5D

597,679

1,743,829

212,048

1,391,986

12,439,496

11,734,450

8,328,972

9,082,094

4,411,804

4,478,726

3,961,632

4,202,734

54,340

70,032

48,655

64,639

Office supplies expense

203,726

215,599

197,119

214,469

Travel & meeting costs

1,012,155

1,243,153

982,781

1,231,516

Revenues from ordinary activities
EXPENSE
Expenses from ordinary activities
(excluding costs expense)
Employees

6A

Insurance expense

Motor vehicle expenses

295,370

305,965

283,926

303,141

3,425,903

2,501,611

571,665

905,944

98,568

-

97,147

-

281,980

210,514

279,530

210,334

6A

32,013

62,586

21,320

62,586

Depreciation and amortisation

6B

416,649

295,010

407,400

295,010

Value of assets sold

5C

85,048

57,507

85,048

57,507

1,355,026

1,110,282

846,774

571,975

Payroll and support costs

217,689

368,781

201,963

365,769

Telephone

168,854

240,665

157,860

225,462

Contractors & consultant fees
Impairment expense

6C

Lease expenses
Long service leave expense

Cost recovery expenses

Ancillary costs, fees and provisions

206,929

372,231

186,152

371,008

12,266,055

11,532,662

8,328,972

9,082,094

173,442

201,788

-

-

Net credit to asset revaluation reserve

-

26,480

-

26,480

Total revenues, expenses and valuation
adjustments recognised directly in equity

-

26,480

-

26,480

173,442

228,268

-

26,480

Expenses from ordinary activities
Operating surplus from ordinary activities

Total changes in equity other than those
resulting from transactions with owners as
owners attributable to the members of Yamatji
Marlpa Barna Baba Maaja Aboriginal Corporation

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2006

Consolidated

NTRB Activities

Notes

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

7A

1,883,001

1,614,783

1,017,272

1,038,703

Receivables

7B

1,492,874

934,076

467,234

608,161

Investments

7C

107,000

107,000

107,000

107,000

3,482,875

2,655,859

1,591,506

1,753,864

ASSETS
Financial assetts
Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets
Non-financial assets
Land and buildings

8A

731,139

739,848

731,139

739,848

Plant and equipment

8B

919,206

1,114,052

880,488

1,077,677

Other non-financial assets

8D

49,263

-

49,263

-

Total non-financial assets

1,699,608

1,853,900

1,660,890

1,817,525

TOTAL ASSETS

5,182,483

4,509,759

3,252,396

3,571,389

579,587

LIABILITIES
Provisions
Employees

9A

618,190

603,535

523,155

Other provisions

9B

13,828

8,002

13,828

8,002

632,018

611,537

536,983

587,589

Total provisions
Payables
Suppliers

10

887,444

814,116

431,126

661,968

Unexpended grants

11

320,811

237,090

150,021

237,090

644,069

159,987

310,023

96,283

191,504

353,834

186,136

350,352

2,043,828

1,565,027

1,077,306

1,345,693

Income received in advance
Accruals

12

Total payables
Total liabilities

2,675,846

2,176,564

1,614,289

1,933,282

NET ASSETS

2,506,637

2,333,195

1,638,107

1,638,107

EQUITY
Revaluation reserve

26,480

26,480

26,480

26,480

Retained surplus

13

2,480,157

2,306,715

1,611,627

1,611,627

Total equity

13

2,506,637

2,333,195

1,638,107

1,638,107

Current assets

3,532,138

2,655,859

1,640,769

1,753,864

Non-current assets

1,650,345

1,853,900

1,611,627

1,817,525

Current liabilities

2,604,998

2,042,057

1,561,289

1,798,775

70,849

134,507

53,000

134,507

Non-current liabilities

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended
30 June 2006

Consolidated
Notes

NTRB Activities

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

Receipts from government

7,018,116

6,302,417

7,018,116

6,302,417

Receipts from customers

6,387,622

6,424,027

2,369,834

3,855,578

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash Received

Interest

110,934

101,110

82,326

101,110

13,516,672

12,827,554

9,470,276

10,259,105

Payments to suppliers

7,612,172

6,776,051

4,578,406

4,558,240

Payments to employees

4,424,435

4,432,658

4,038,407

4,360,073

GST paid to ATO

845,466

654,609

508,513

506,273

Total Cash Used

12,882,073

11,863,318

9,125,326

9,424,586

634,599

964,236

344,950

834,519

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment

70,000

56,560

70,000

56,560

Total Cash Received

70,000

56,560

70,000

56,560

Total Cash Received
Cash Used

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

14

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash Received

Cash Used
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

436,381

1,193,807

436,381

1,193,807

Total Cash Used

436,381

1,193,807

436,381

1,193,807

(366,381)

(1,137,247)

(366,381)

(1,137,247)

NET CASH USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net increase / (Decrease) in cash held

268,218

(173,011)

(21,431)

(302,728)

Cash at the beginning of the reporting period

1,721,783

1,894,794

1,145,703

1,448,431

Cash at the end of the reporting period

1,990,001

1,721,783

1,124,272

1,145,703

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended
30 June 2006

Consolidated
Notes

NTRB Activities

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

2,333,195

2,104,926

1,638,107

1,611,627

Income and expense
Revaluation adjustment

-

26,480

-

26,480

Sub total income and expenses
recognised directly into equity

-

26,480

-

26,480

OPENING BALANCE

Net operating results

173,442

201,789

-

-

Total income and expenses

173,442

228,269

-

26,480

2,506,637

2,333,195

1,638,107

1,638,107

CLOSING BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE

Schedule of Commitments
As at 30 June 2006

Consolidated
Notes

2006
$

2005
$

NTRB Activities
2006
$

2005
$

BY TYPE
Other Commitments
Operating leases

2

Total Other Commitments

993,546

983,206

939,017

983,206

Net Commitments by Type

993,546

983,206

939,017

983,206

BY MATURITY
Operating Lease Commitments
One year or less

412,932

349,868

391,468

349,868

From one to five years

580,613

633,338

547,549

633,338

Total Operating Lease Commitments

993,546

983,206

939,017

983,206

NET COMMITMENTS BY MATURITY

993,546

983,206

939,017

983,206

Over five years

-

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
NB: Commitments are GST inclusive where relevant
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Notes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
Notes to the Financial Statements
The financial statements cover Yamatji Marlpa
Barna Baba Maaja Aboriginal Corporation as an
individual entity. YMBBMAC is an association
incorporated under the Aboriginal Councils and
Associations Act.To comply with Native Title Act
1993 all activities relating to the NTRB are
reported separately in the financial statements.

NOTE 1 Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies
1.1 Basis of Accounting
The financial statements are required by
clause 1(b) of Schedule 1 to the
Commonwealth Authorities and Companies
Act and are a general purpose financial
report.
The statements have been prepared in
accordance with:
• Finance Minister’s Orders [being the
Financial Management and
Accountability Orders (financial
statements for reporting periods
ending on or after 1 July 2005)];
• Australian Accounting Standards
issued by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board that apply for the
accounting period; and
• Interpretations issued by the AASB and
Urgent Issues Group that apply for the
reporting period.
The Income Statement, Balance Sheet and
Statement of Changes in Equity have been
prepared on an accrual basis and are in
accordance with historical cost convention,
except for certain assets, which, as noted,
are at valuation. Except where stated, no
allowance is made for the effect of
changing prices on the results or the
financial position.
Assets and liabilities are recognised in the
Balance Sheet when and only when it is
probable that future economic benefits will
flow and the amounts of the assets or
liabilities can be reliably measured. Assets
and liabilities arising under agreements

equally proportionately unperformed are
however not recognised unless required by
an accounting standard. Liabilities and
assets that are unrecognised are reported
in the Schedule of Commitments.
Revenues and expenses are recognised in
the Income Statement when and only
when the flow or consumption or loss of
economic benefits has occurred and can be
reliably measured.
This is the first financial report to be
prepared under Australian Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards
and comparatives for the year ended 30
June 2005 have been restated accordingly.
There are no adjustments required to the
association at 30 June 2005, or at opening
accumulated funds at 1 July 2004, arising
from the application of AEIFRS to the
association.
1.2 Statement of Compliance
The financial report complies with
Australian Accounting Standards, which
include Australian Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards.
Compliance with AEIFRS ensures that the
financial report, comprising the financial
statements and notes thereto, complies
with International Financial Reporting
Standards.
This is the first financial report prepared
based on AEIFRS and comparatives for the
year ended 30 June 2005. The equity and
profit for year ended 30 June 2005, as
reported in the financial report for the year
ended 30 June 2005, does not require any
changes to comply with AEIFRS.The cash
flow statement presented under previous
AGAAP is equivalent to that prepared
under AEIFRS.
Australian Accounting Standards that have
been recently issued or amended but are
not yet effective have not been adopted
for the annual reporting period ending 30
June 2006.The greater function of the
impact, if any, is not known or reasonably
estimatable in the current financial year.
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AASB Amendment

Affected Standards

Application date
of standard

Application date
for association

Amendment to
AASB 119

AASB 119: Employee
Benefits

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

2005-1

AASB 139: Financial
Instruments:
Recognition and
measurement

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

2005-4

AASB 139: Financial
Instruments:
Recognition and
Measurement
AASB 132: Financial
Instruments:
Disclosure and
Presentation
AASB 1: First-time
adoption of AEIFRS
AASB 1023: General
Insurance Contracts
AASB 1038: Life
Insurance Contracts

1 January 2006

1 July 2006

2005-5

AASB 1: First-time
adoption of AEIFRS
AASB 139: Financial
Instruments:
Recognition and
Measurement

1 January 2006

1 July 2006
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AASB Amendment

Affected Standards

Application Date
of Standard

Application Date
for Association

2005-10

AASB 132: Financial
Instruments:
Disclosure and
Presentation, AASB
101: Presentation of
Financial Statements
AASB114: Segment
Reporting
AASB 117: Leases
AASB 133: Earnings
per Share
AASB 139: Financial
Instruments:
Recognition and
Measurement
AASB 1: First-time
adoption of AEIFRS
AASB 4: Insurance
Contracts, AASB
1023: General
Insurance Contracts
AASB 1038: Life
Insurance Contracts

1 January 2007

1 July 2007

New Standard

AASB 7: Financial
Instruments:
Disclosures

1 January 2007

1 July 2007

The following amendments are not applicable to the Association and therefore have no impact:
AASB Amendment

Affected Standards

2005-2

AASB 1023: General Insurance Contracts

2005-6

AASB 3: Business Combinations

2005-9

AASB 4: Insurance Contracts, AASB 1023: General Insurance Contracts
AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
AASB 132: Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation

2005-12

AASB 1038: Life Insurance Contracts and AASB1023: General
Insurance Contracts

2005-13

AAS: Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans
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1.3 Revenue
Revenue from the rendering of a service is
recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract to provide the
service at the reporting date.The revenue
is recognised when:
• The amount of revenue, stage of
completion and transaction costs
incurred can be reliably measured: and
• The probable economic benefits with
the transaction will flow to the entity.
The stage of completion is determined
according to the proportion that costs
incurred to date bear to the estimated
total costs of the transaction.
Receivables for services are recognised
at the nominal amounts due less any
provision for bad and doubtful debts.
Collectability of debts is reviewed at
balance date. Provisions are made
when collectability of the debt is no
longer probable.
Revenue from disposal of non-current
assets is recognised when control of the
asset has passed to the buyer.
Interest revenue is recognised on a time
proportionate basis that takes into account
the effective yield on the relevant asset.
Revenue from grants received from
government funding organisations is
recognised when received, and is deferred
as a liability to the extent that unspent
grants are required to be repaid to the
funding organisation.
1.4 Employee Benefits
Benefits
Liabilities for services rendered by
employees are recognised at the reporting
date to the extent that they have not
been settled.
Liabilities for wages and salaries (including
non-monetary benefits), annual leave and
sick leave are measured at their nominal
amounts. Other employee benefits
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expected to be settled within 12 months
of the reporting date are also measured at
their nominal amounts.
The nominal amount is calculated with
regard to the rates expected to be paid
on settlement of the liability.
All other employee benefit liabilities are
measured as the present value of the
estimated future cash outflows to be made
in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date.
Leave
The liability for employee benefits includes
provision for annual leave and long service
leave. No provision has been made for
sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting
and the average sick leave taken in future
years by employees of YMBBMAC is
estimated to be less than the annual
entitlement for sick leave.
The leave liabilities are calculated on the
basis of employees’ remuneration, including
YMBBMAC’s employer superannuation
contribution rates to the extent that the
leave is likely to be taken during service
rather than paid out on termination.
The liability for long service leave has been
determined by reference to the work of
an actuary as at 30 June 2006. The
estimate of the present value of the liability
takes into account attrition rates and pay
increases through promotion and inflation.
Superannuation
Contributions are made to employee
superannuation fund of their choice and
charged as expenses when incurred.
1.5 Grants
Most grant agreements require
YMBBMAC to perform services, provide
facilities or meet eligibility criteria. In these
cases,YMBBMAC recognises grant
liabilities only to the extent that the
services required have not been
performed or the eligibility criteria have
not been satisfied by YMBBMAC.
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In cases where grant agreements are
made without conditions to be
monitored, liabilities are recognised on
signing the agreement.
Grants relating to the purchase of
property plant and equipment would be
recognised at its fair value and treated as
an asset and as income when the
association gains control of the
contribution.This is in accordance with the
treatment of grants under AASB 1004 of
the Australian Accounting Standards. Not
for profit entities are still required to
comply with AASB under IFRS and,
therefore, there is no change on the
treatment of grants on adoption of IFRS.
1.6 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash means notes and coins held and any
deposits held at call with a bank or
financial institution. Cash is recognised at
its nominal amount. Interest is credited to
revenue as it accrues.
1.7 Other Financial Assets
Term deposits are recognised at cost.
1.8 Leases
YMBBMAC has entered into commercial
leases on certain motor vehicles where it
is not in the best interest of the association
to purchase these assets. Leases where the
lessor effectively retains substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of assets are classified as operating leases.
Operating lease payments are expensed
on a straight line basis over the lease term
which is representative of the pattern of
benefits derived from the leased assets.
1.9 Financial Risk Management
YMBBMAC’s activities expose it to
normal commercial financial risk. As a
result of the nature of YMBBMAC ‘s
business and internal and Australian
Government policies, dealing with the
management of financial risk,YMBBMAC ‘s
exposure to market, credit, liquidity and
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
is considered to be low.

1.10 Derecognition of Financial Assets
and Liabilities
As prescribed in the Finance Minister’s
Orders,YMBBMAC has applied the
option available under AASB1 of adopting
AASB 132 and 139 from 1 July 2005
rather than 1 July 2004.
Financial assets are derecognised when
the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the financial assets expire or the
asset is transferred to another entity. In
the case of a transfer to another entity, it
is necessary that the risks and rewards of
ownership are also transferred.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when
the obligation under the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.
For the comparative year, financial assets
were derecognised when the contractual
right to receive cash no longer existed.
Financial liabilities were derecognised
when the contractual obligation to pay
cash no longer existed.
1.11 Impairment of Financial Assets
If there is objective evidence that an
impairment has been incurred for
receivables, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated cash flows discounted
at the asset’s original effective interest
rate.The carrying amount is reduced by
way of an allowance account.The loss is
recognised in profit and loss.
Comparative Year
The above policy was not applied for the
comparative year. For receivables,
amounts were recognised and carried at
original invoice amount less a provision
for doubtful debts based on an estimate
made when collection of the full amount
was no longer probable. Bad debts were
written off as incurred.
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1.12 Other Financial Liabilities
Trade creditors and accruals are
recognised at their nominal amounts,
being the amounts at which the liabilities
will be settled. Liabilities are recognised
to the extent that the goods or services
have been received (and irrespective of
having been invoiced).
1.13 Acquisition of Assets
Assets are recorded at cost on
acquisition except as stated below.The
cost of acquisition includes the fair value
of assets transferred in exchange and
liabilities undertaken.
1.14 Property (Land, Buildings and
Infrastructure), Plant and Equipment
Revaluations
Basis
Land, buildings and infrastructure are
carried at valuation, being revalued
annually with sufficient frequency such
that the carrying amount of each asset
class is not materially different, as at
reporting date, from its fair value.
Valuations undertaken in any year are as
at 30 June.

Revaluation adjustments are made on a
class basis. Any revaluation increment is
credited to equity under the heading of
asset revaluation except to the extent
that it reverses a previous revaluation
Depreciation
Depreciable property plant and
equipment assets are written-off to their
estimated residual values over their
estimated useful lives to YMBBMAC
using, in all cases, the diminishing balance
method of depreciation.
Depreciation rates (useful lives) and
methods are reviewed at each reporting
date and necessary adjustments are
recognised in the current, or current and
future reporting periods, as appropriate.
Residual values are re-estimated for a
change in prices only when assets are
revalued.
Annual depreciation rates applying to
each class of depreciable asset are as
follows:
Buildings on freehold land

4%

Fair values for each class of asset are
determined as shown below.

Leasehold improvements

Asset class

Fair value measured at:

Plant and equipment

Land

Market selling price

Motor Vehicles

Buildings

Market selling price

Leasehold
improvements

Depreciated
replacement cost

The aggregate amount of depreciation
allocated for each class of asset during
the reporting period is disclosed in
Note 6B.

Plant and
equipment

Market selling price

Land and building assets are subject to a
formal valuation every three years.
Formal valuations are carried out by an
independent qualified valuer.
Land and buildings are measured at fair
cost less accumulated depreciation.
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Plant and equipment is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any
impairment in value.

33.3%
15%-60%
22.5%

Impairment
All assets were assessed for impairment
at 30 June 2006. Where indications of
impairment exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated and an impairment
adjustment made if the asset’s
recoverable amount is less than its
carrying amount.
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The recoverable amount of an asset is
the higher of its fair value less costs to
sell and its value in use.Value in use is
the present value of the future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset.
Where the economic benefit of an asset
is not primarily dependent on the asset’s
ability to generate cash flows, the asset
would be replaced if the association
were deprived of the asset; its value
in use is taken to be its depreciated
replacement cost.

Decommissioning, Restoration
and Make-Good
When assessing accommodation leases for
the preparation of the opening balance
sheet, no obligations under the leases for
make-good were determined.
In relation to non-financial assets,
YMBBMAC has assessed at the reporting
date that there is no obligation for
decommissioning, restoration or make
good.
1.15 Taxation

Treatment of Capital Grants
Grants relating to the purchase of
property, plant and equipment would be
recognised at its fair value and treated as
an asset and as income when the
association gains control of the
contribution. This is in accordance with
the treatment of grants under AASB
1004 of the Australian accounting
standards. Not for profit entities are still
required to comply with AASB 1004
under AEIFRS and, therefore, there is no
change to the treatment of grants on the
adoption of AEIFRS.

YMBBMAC is exempt from all forms of
taxation except fringe benefits tax and the
goods and services tax.
Revenues, expenses and assets are
recognised net of GST:
• Except where the amount of GST
incurred is not recoverable from the
Australian Taxation Office; and
• Except for receivables and payables.
1.16 Comparatives
Where necessary, the prior year
comparatives have been amended to
facilitate comparison with the current year
presentation of financial information.

NOTE 2: Operating Leases
Operating leases included are effectively non – cancellable and comprise:
Nature of Lease

General Description of Leasing Arrangement

Leases for office
accommodation.

Lease payments are subject to annual increases in accordance
with upwards movements in the Consumer Price Index.
Four premises’ initial leases are still current and three may be
renewed from one to three years at YMBBMAC’s option.
One premises is on a periodic basis.

Agreements for
the provision of
motor vehicles to
senior officers.

No contingent rentals exist.

Annual Report 2006 Yamatji Marlpa Barna Baba Maaja Aboriginal Corporation

97

Financial Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2006
Notes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
NOTE 3: Economic Dependency
Yamatji Marlpa Barna Baba Maaja Aboriginal
Corporation is an association incorporated
under the Aboriginal Councils and
Associations Act.
YMBBMAC is dependent on funding from
the Commonwealth of Australia for its
continued existence and ability to carry
out its normal activities.

NOTE 5: Operating Revenues

NOTE 4: Events Occurring
After Reporting Date
YMBBMAC have received confirmation
from the Commonwealth of Australia
of the provision of funding for the
2006/7 financial year.

Consolidated
Notes

2006
$

NTRB Activities
2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

NOTE 5A REVENUE FROM SERVICES
Rendering of services to:
External entities
Total rendering of services

5,287,141

3,936,077

1,590,856

1,635,564

5,287,141

3,936,077

1,590,856

1,635,564

NOTE 5B: INTEREST REVENUE
Interest on deposits

110,934

107,305

82,326

107,305

Total interest revenue

110,934

107,305

82,326

107,305

63,636

51,418

63,636

51,418

NOTE 5C NET GAINS FROM SALE OF ASSETS
Plant and equipment:
Proceeds from disposal
Net book value of assets disposed
Total net loss from disposal of plant and equipment

(85,048)

(57,507)

(85,048)

(57,507)

(21,412)

(6,089)

(21,412)

(6,089)

552,199

1,227,961

195,459

918,285

44,391

324,988

15,500

282,821

1,089

3,642

1,089

3,642

NOTE 5D OTHER
Other grants:
Staffing
Expenses and capital
Other income
Provision for doubtful debts written back

-

-

-

-

Provision for GST written back

-

78,882

-

-

Provision for redundancy written back
Total other

98

-

108,356

-

187,238

597,679

1,743,829

212,048

1,391,986
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NOTE 6: Operating Expenses

Consolidated
Notes

NTRB Activities

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

3,861,341

3,860,852

3,463,148

3,606,224

NOTE 6A: EMPLOYEE EXPENSES
Wages and salaries
Superannuation

325,191

318,044

285,803

299,727

Other employee benefits

225,272

299,830

212,680

296,783

Leave and other entitlements

32,013

62,586

21,320

62,586

Total employee expenses

4,443,817

4,541,312

3,982,951

4,265,320

352,000

212,719

342,751

212,719

64,649

82,291

64,649

82,291

416,649

295,010

407,400

295,010

98,568

-

97,147

-

515,217

295,010

504,547

295,010

14,200

-

14,200

-

NOTE 6B: DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of leasehold assets
Total depreciation and amortisation
Write offs
The aggregate amounts of depreciation or amortisation
expensed during the reporting period of each class
of depreciable asset are as follows:
Buildings on freehold land
Leasehold improvements
Plant and equipment

64,649

82,291

64,649

82,291

184,945

138,401

183,880

138,401

Motor vehicles

152,855

74,318

144,671

74,318

Total depreciation and amortisation

461,649

295,010

407,400

295,010

NOTE 6C: WRITE DOWN AND IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
Write downs

98,568

-

97,147

-

Total write down and impairment of assets

98,568

-

97,147

-
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NOTE 7: Financial Assets

Consolidated
Notes

2006
$

NTRB Activities
2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

NOTE 7A: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand

365

1,000

365

1,000

Cash at bank

1,882,636

1,613,783

1,016,907

1,037,703

1,883,001

1,614,783

1,017,272

1,038,703

Trade receivables

1,156,705

1,114,572

530,235

779,498

Less:Allowance for doubtful debts

(261,119)

(261,284)

(170,584)

(218,132)

GST receivable

895,586
26,042

853,288
29,218

359,651
26,042

561,366
29,218

Income receivable

506,497

21,131

57,723

-

Other receivables

64,749

30,439

23,818

17,577

1,492,874

934,076

467,234

608,161

Total cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank earns interest at tiered
interest rates determined by the bank.
NOTE 7B : RECEIVABLES

Total receivables (net)
All receivables are current assets.
Trade receivables are aged as follows:
Current
Overdue by:
Less than 30 days

565,931

667,045

239,285

548,049

30-60 days

88,372

100,325

52,160

63,576

60-90 days

54,698

67,718

15,795

-

447,705

279,484

222,995

167,873

1,156,705

1,114,572

530,235

779,498

More than 90 days
Total trade receivables (gross)
The allowance for doubtful debts is aged as follows:
Current
Overdue by:
Less than 30 days

-

-

-

-

30-60 days

-

-

-

-

60-90 days

-

-

-

-

More than 90 days

261,119

261,284

170,584

218,132

Total provision for doubtful debts

261,119

261,284

170,584

218,132

107,000

107,000

107,000

107,000

NOTE 7C : INVESTMENTS
Term deposits

Short term deposits are made with varying periods of between six and nine months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
association, and earn interest at the respective short term deposit rates.
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NOTE 8: Non Financial Assets

Consolidated
Notes

2006
$

NTRB Activities
2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

NOTE 8A: LAND AND BUILDINGS
Freehold land
- fair value

195,000

195,000

195,000

195,000

Total freehold land

195,000

195,000

195,000

195,000

– at fair value

425,140

355,000

425,140

355,000

– Accumulated depreciation

(14,200)

-

(14,200)

-

Total buildings on freehold land

410,940

355,000

410,940

355,000

324,085

324,085

324,085

324,085

– Accumulated depreciation

(198,886)

(134,237)

(198,886)

(134,237)

Total leasehold improvements

125,199

189,848

125,199

189,848

Total land and buildings (non-current)

731,139

739,848

731,139

739,848

– at cost

1,829,410

1,830,258

1,733,437

1,747,298

– accumulated depreciation

(823,420)

(716,206)

(767,586)

(669,621)

– write downs

(86,784)

-

(85,363)

-

Total plant and equipment (non-current)

919,206

1,114,052

880,488

1,077,677

Buildings on freehold land

Leasehold improvements
– at fair value

NOTE 8B: PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and equipment

All revaluations are independent and are conducted in accordance with the revaluation policy stated at Note 1.9. In 2004-05, the revaluations
were conducted by an independent valuer W Kalajzich (LV44042).
Movement in Asset Revaluation Reserve
Increment for land

-

26,480

-

26,480
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NOTE 8C: RECONCILIATION OF THE OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Consolidated
Item

NTRB Activities

Buildings
$

Equipment
$

Total
$

Buildings
$

Equipment
$

Total
$

874,085

1,830,261

2,704,346

874,085

1,747,301

2,621,386

As at 1 July 2005
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation

(134,237)

(716,209)

(850,446)

(134,237)

(669,624)

(803,861)

Opening Net Book Value

739,848

1,114,052

1,853,900

739,848

1,077,677

1,817,525

70,140

Additions
By purchase

70,140

326,570

396,710

(86,784)

(86,784)

313,556

383,696

(85,363)

(85,363)

(78,849)

(337,800)

(416,649)

(78,849)

(328,551)

(407,400)

-

(327,418)

(327,418)

-

(327,418)

(327,418)

944,225

1,829,410

2,773,635

944,225

1,733,436

2,677,661

(213,086)

(910,204)

(1,123,290)

(213,086)

(852,948)

(1,066,034)

731,139

919,206

1,650,345

731,139

880,488

1,611,627

944,225

1,829,410

2,773,635

944,225

1,733,436

2,677,661

(213,086)

(910,204)

(1,123,290)

(213,086)

(852,948)

(1,066,034)

731,139

919,206

1,650,345

731,139

880,488

1,611,627

874,085

1,830,261

2,704,346

874,085

1,747,301

2,621,386

(134,237)

(716,209)

(850,446)

(134,237)

(669,624)

(803,861)

739,848

1,114,052

1,853,900

739,848

1,077,677

1,817,525

Notes

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

49,263

-

49,263

-

Write down
Depreciation/amortisation
expense
Disposals
Disposals
As at 30 June 2006
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation and write down
Closing Net Book Value
ASSETS AT VALUATION
As at 30 June 2006
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation
Closing Net Book Value
As at 30 June 2005
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation
Closing Net Book Value

Consolidated

NTRB Activities

NOTE 8D: OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Prepayments
All other non-financial assets are current assets.
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NOTE 9: Provisions

Consolidated
Notes

NOTE 9A: EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS
Salaries and wages
Leave
Total employee provisions
Current
Non-current

NOTE 9B: OTHER PROVISIONS
Provision for audit fees

NTRB Activities

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

17,314
600,876
618,190
547,341
70,849
618,190

24,912
578,623
603,535
469,028
134,507
603,535

15,243
507,912
523,155
470,155
53,000
523,155

24,126
555,461
579,587
445,080
134,507
579,587

13,828
13,828

8,002
8,002

13,828
13,828

8,002
8,002

870,178
17,266
887,444

799,514
14,602
814,116

416,296
14,830
431,126

647,366
14,602
661,968

320,811

237,090

150,021

237,090

45,765
145,739
191,504

41,039
312,795
353,834

40,397
145,739
186,136

39,421
310,931
350,352

2,306,715
173,442
2,480,157
26,480
2,506,637

2,104,926
201,789
2,306,715
26,480
2,333,195

1,611,627
1,611,627
26,480
1,638,107

1,611,627
1,611,627
26,480
1,638,107

NOTE 10: Suppliers
Trade creditors
Operating lease rentals
Total supplier payables
All suppliers are current and settlement is usually made net 30 days.

NOTE 11: Unexpended Grant
Unexpended grant carried forward
Unexpended grant carried forward represents grant funds received
specifically for approved budget items and which are repayable to
the funding organisation to the extent the funds are unspent.

NOTE 12: Other Payables
Accrued wages/superannuation
General accruals
Total accruals

NOTE 13: Equity
Analysis of Equity
Accumulated surplus as at 1 July
Surplus from ordinary activities
Accumulated surplus as at 30 June
Net revaluation increment
Total equity as at 30 June
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Financial Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2006
Notes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
NOTE 14: Cash Flow Reconcilliation
Notes

Consolidated

NTRB Activities

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

173,442

201,788

-

-

416,649
98,568
21,411
-

295,010
6,089
27,681

407,400
97,147
21,411
-

295,010
0
6,089
27,681

(558,798)
(49,263)
22,253
(90,775)
83,721
484,083
33,307
634,599

130,205
(6,923)
288,247
(159,389)
78,142
103,386
964,236

140,927
(49,263)
(47,550)
(398,114)
(87,069)
213,740
46,321
344,950

176,907
(30,085)
288,247
(159,389)
96,283
133,776
834,519

1
1
2

1
1

1
1
2

1
1

295,895

139,196

295,895

139,196

NOTE 14: RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING SURPLUS
TO NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating surplus
Non-Cash Items
Depreciation and amortisation
Net write down of non-financial assets
Loss on disposal of assets
Loss on asset transfer
Changes in Assets and Liabilities
(Increase) / decrease in receivables
(Increase) / decrease in prepayments
Increase / (decrease) in employee provisions
Increase / (decrease) in supplier payables
Increase / (decrease) in grants payable
Increase / (decrease) in income in advance
Increase / (decrease) in GST payable
Net cash from / (used by) operating activities

NOTE 15: Renumeration of Officers
The number of officers who received or were due to
receive total remuneration of $100,000 or more:
$130,000 - $144,999
$145,000 - $159,999
$160,000 - $174,999
Total
The aggregate amount of total remuneration of officers shown above.
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NOTE 16: Financial Instruments
NOTE 16A: INTEREST RATE RISK
Financial
Instrument

Fixed Interest
Rate Maturing in
One year or less

Floating Interest
Rate
2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

Non-Interest
Bearing

Weighted
Average

Total

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

2006
$

2005
$

2006

2005

5.00%

5.00%

5.52%

5.30%

Financial Assets
Cash on hand
Deposits at call

-

-

-

-

365

1,000

365

1,000

231,618

295,945

-

-

-

-

231,618

295,945

Receivables for services (gross)

-

-

-

- 1,156,705 1,114,572 1,156,705 1,114,572

Other

-

-

-

-

597,288

- 1,758,018 1,424,838

-

Term deposit
Total

231,618

80,788

597,288

80,788

- 1,758,018 1,424,838

295,945 1,758,018 1,424,838 1,754,358 1,196,359 3,743,994 2,917,142

Total assets

5,182,483 4,509,759

Financial Liabilities
Trade creditors

-

-

-

-

887,444

814,116

887,444

814,116

n/a

n/a

Grants payable

-

-

-

-

320,811

237,090

320,811

237,090

n/a

n/a

835,573

513,821

835,573

513,821

n/a

n/a

Other payables

-

-

-

-

Total

-

-

-

- 2,043,828 1,565,027 2,043,828 1,565,027

Total liabilities

2,675,846 2,176,564

Financial Assets
The net fair values of cash, deposits on call and non-interest-bearing monetary financial assets
approximate their carrying amounts.
The net fair values of the term deposits are based on discounted cash flows using current
interest rates for assets with similar risk profiles.
Financial Liabilities
The net fair values for trade creditors and grant liabilities, all of which are short-term in nature,
are approximated by their carrying amounts.
NOTE 17B: CREDIT RISK EXPOSURES

The maximum exposures to credit risk at reporting date in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Statement of Financial
Position.
The association has no significant exposures to any concentrations of credit risk.
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Financial Report for the Year Ended 30 June 2006
Notes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
NOTE 17: Renumeration of Auditors

The fair value of services provided was:
Audit services
Other services

2006
$

2005
$

26,539
26,539

18,510
18,510

2006
79

2005
76

NOTE 18: Average Staffing Levels
The average staffing levels for the entity during the year were:

NOTE 19: Contingent Liabilities and Assets
Unquantifiable Contingencies
A writ was issued on 16 August 2005 and 19 August 2005 by Fortescue Metals Group on the organisation for defamation.YMBBMAC has
sought advice, denied liability and in conjunction with its insurers a settlement position is being negotiated. It is not possible to estimate the
amounts of any eventual payments that may be required in relation to this matter.

NOTE 20: Reporting of Outcomes
Combined Outcomes of YMBBMAC
Price of NTRB Outputs

ACTUAL 2004-05
$
Output Group 1. Facilitation & Assistance
4,747,587
Output Group 2. Certification
48,419
Output Group 3. Dispute Resolution
45,139
Output Group 4. Notifications
208,868
Output Group 5.Agreement Making
92,008
Output Group 6. Internal Review
25,286
Output Group 7. Other Functions
239,683
Output Group 8. Governance
and Administration
562,456
Recognition and Protection
Total Price of Outputs
5,969,446
Source of Funding
Revenue from Australian Government
for NTRB Outputs
Revenue from other Sources
Total Price of Outputs
Operational Plan
- Activities
- Corporate
Total
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ACTUAL 2005-06
$
-

BUDGET 2005-06
$
-

VARIANCE 2005-06
$
-

6,906,341
6,906,341

6,488,037
6,488,037

418,304
418,304

5,871,311
98,135
5,969,446

6,380,106
526,235
6,906,341

6,243,037
245,000
6,488,037

137,069
281,235
418,304

4,000,766

3,799,778
2,905,575
6,906,341

200,988
2,688,259
6,488,037

217,316
418,304

5,969,446
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Glossary of Terms
AASB
ACAA
AEIFRS

Australian Accounting Standard Bureau
Aboriginal Councils and Associations Act
Australian Equivalents to International Financial
Reporting Standards
AGAAP
Australian Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles
AHA
Alternative Heritage Agreement
ALO
Aboriginal Liaison Officer
ALT
Aboriginal Lands Trust
AMEC
Association of Mining and Exploration Companies
APLA
Amalgamated Prospectors and Leaseholders
Association of Western Australia
BDO
Business Development Officer
BAC
Baiyungu Aboriginal Corporation
CA
Corporations Act
CAEPR
Centre for Aboriginal Economic Policy Research
CFC Team Caring for Country Team
CDO
Community Development Officer
CFO
Chief Financial Officer
CPA
Certified Practicing Accountant
DIA
Department of Indigenous Affairs (State)
ED
Executive Director
EDO
Economic Development Officer
FaCSIA
Families, Community Services and
Indigenous Affairs
FMG
Fortescue Metals Group
GLSC
Goldfields Land and Sea Council
GMY
Gobawarrah Minduarra Yinhawanga
(Pilbara native title claim)
IB
Innawonga Bunjima (Pilbara native title claim)

IFRS
ILUA
KM K&M
MIB
MOU
NTA
NNTC
NNTT
NRM
NTRB
OIPC

Editorial information

•

Gascoyne,Wajarri Yamatji country. Image CFC Team.

•

YMBBMAC Governing Committee. Image by Justin Cvitan.

•

Lake Nannine,Yamatji country. Image by CFC Team.

•

Aboriginal Liaison Officer John Parker, Project Officer Rodney ‘Ali’
Parker and Innawonga traditional owner Lola Young. Image courtesy
of Robert Gordon Photography.

•

Wajarii Yamatji claimants sign agreement with Midwest Corporation,
with assistance from YMBBMAC staff. Image by Linda Back.

Special thanks to Robert Gordon Photography for its photographic
contributions.

•

Naaguja traditional owners Edna Corbett (left) and Jennifer
Williams. Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.

Apologies to Zen Davison who was not credited with taking the front page
image of the 2005 YMBBMAC Annual Report.

•

Pilbara wildflowers. Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.

•

Yamatji lizard. Image by CFC Team.

Edited by Marjorie Syddall msyddall@yamatji.org.au
Thanks to the NNTT for use of their future act information.
YMBBMAC thanks the following staff for their photographic contributions:
CFC Team (Bernie Green and Clayton Lewis), Linda Back,Alum Cheedy,
Justin Cvitan,Tony Farnham, Kali Napier, Matthew Perkins, Michael Ryan,
Robin Stevens and Marjorie Syddall.

International Financial Reporting Standards
Indigenous Land Use Agreement
Kurama & Mathudunera (Pilbara native title claim)
Martu Idja Banyjima (Pilbara native title claim)
Memorandum of Understanding
Commonwealth Native Title Act 1993
National Native Title Council
National Native Title Tribunal
Natural Resource Management
Native Title Representative Body
Office of Indigenous Policy Co-Ordination
(Commonwealth)
ORAC
Office of the Registrar of Aboriginal Corporations
PBC
Prescribed Body Corporate
PKKP
Puutu Kunti Kurrama & Pinikura
(Pilbara native title claim)
PLO
Principal Legal Officer
PNTS
Pilbara Native Title Service
RLU
Regional Legal Unit
RNTBC Registered Native Title Body Corporate
RSHA
Regional Standard Heritage Agreement
SHA
Standard Heritage Agreement
SLRO
Senior Regional Legal Officer
SOU
Strategic Operations Unit
UIG
Urgent Issues Group
WA
Western Australia
YLSC
Yamatji Land and Sea Council
YMBBMAC Yamatji Marlpa Barna Baba Maaja
Aboriginal Corporation

Images Guide

Back cover

Front Cover

•

Kurama Marthudunera traditional owners Neil Finlay (Pilbara
Chairperson), Rory Bobby and Matthew Sampi on heritage survey.
Image by Tony Farnham.

•

Gascoyne,Wajarri Yamatji country. Image by CFC Team.

•

Shark Bay, Malgana country. Image by CFC Team.

Main Image: Rock art, Banyjima country. Image courtesy of Robert
Gordon Photography.
Small images from top left:
•

Njamal traditional owner (and PNTS Project Officer) Kevin Allen
and son Adrian. Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.

•

Pilbara country. Image courtesy of Robert Gordon Photography.

•

Wajarri traditional owners Colin Hamlett (left), Gavin Egan (Yamatji
Senior Aboriginal Liaison Officer) and Karl Hamlett. Image by Kali
Napier.

•

Jijingntha (Joffre Gorge, Karijini). Image courtesy of Robert Gordon
Photography.

•

GMY traditional owner Roy Tommy signing binding initial agreement
with Rio Tinto Iron Ore assisted by Senior Regional Legal Officer
Michael Ryan. Image by Justin Cvitan.

•

PKKP traditional owners Maudie Dowton (left), Cloe Hayes and
Angie Cox. Image by Alum Cheedy.

•

Gascoyne Rivermouth, Gnulli country. Image by CFC Team.

•

•

Ngarlawangga traditional owners Maisey Hyland,April Hyland and
Tania Limerick. Image by Robin Stevens.

Yamatji bush tucker. Image by Kali Napier. Koolanooka Springs, Near
Morawa. Image by CFC Team.

•

Koolanooka Springs, Near Morawa. Image by CFC Team.
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